THYMIC STROMAL LYMPHOPOIETIN POLYMORPHISM RS1837253 IN ASTHMA

THYMIC STROMAL LYMPHOPOIETIN: THE FUNCTIONAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE TSLP GENE POLYMORPHISM RS1837253 IN ALLERGIC ASTHMA

By

By RAPHAEL HANNA, B.Sc.

A Thesis

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Masters of Sciences

McMaster University

McMaster University © Copyright by Raphael Hanna, June 2017

M.Sc. Thesis – R. Hanna

MASTERS OF SCIENCE (2012)

McMaster University

(Medical Sciences – Infection and Immunology)

Hamilton Ontario

TITLE: Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin: The functional implications of the TSLP gene polymorphism rs1837253 in Allergic Asthma

AUTHOR: Raphael Hanna, B.Sc. (McMaster University)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Judah Denburg

NUMBER OF PAGES: xiii, 90

ABSTRACT

Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) is a regulator of T_h2 immune responses and is highly implicated in the pathophysiology of asthma and allergic diseases. Although robust data is present referencing the associations of polymorphisms in the TSLP gene with the development of allergy and asthma, there is very limited information on how TSLP gene variants functionally affect downstream effector pathways with regards to disease phenotypes in the clinical setting. The overall objective of this thesis is to investigate how TSLP polymorphisms are linked to the clinical phenotypic differences including alterations in TSLP secretion and subsequent downstream cellular events. We show that polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) enhanced TSLP secretion from nasal epithelial cells (NEC). To explore the potential regulatory mechanisms acting on a key variant of the TSLP gene, we investigated associations between the rs1837253 TSLP variant and transcriptional regulatory factors RIG-1 and AP-1, finding no association between levels of expression of these regulators and genotype. We also investigated ex vivo production of TSLP and downstream cytokines in nasal epithelial cells (NEC) in asthmatic and non-asthmatic individuals to outline variances in expression according to disease status and genotype. We showed that NEC derived from asthmatic individuals showed significant differences in expression in asthmatic compared to non-asthmatic individuals. Furthermore, we demonstrated that there was a difference in the expression of TSLP in the asthmatic subpopulation compared to non-asthmatics when categorized by genotype, suggesting an altered regulatory mechanism of TSLP secretion for asthmatic compared to non-asthmatic individuals.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank Dr. Judah Denburg. You have been a magnificent supervisor, mentor and role model. Your passion for research and discovery, your genuine love of learning and your venerable eloquence shined through in every interaction we shared. You are an inspiration and a living illustration of what you teach. Your encouragement has helped me grow both as a scientist and as a person, and I will always be grateful for your belief in my abilities even when I doubted myself. Through you, I learned so much about resilience, perseverance and determination – qualities which I will take with me as I move forward in my career and in my personal life. Thank you for your continuous support and guidance and most of all, for always challenging me and having my best interest at heart.

Next, I would like to express my gratitude to my committee members for their time and commitment. To Dr. Martin Stämpfli for his expert advice and genuine interest in my success. To Dr. Helen Neighbour for allowing me to pester her during her busy clinic hours to recruit subjects and her valued clinical insight. To Dr. Gail Gauvreau.for her invaluable guidance and her constant willingness to offer help when I needed it. Your advice, perspectives, and expertise have helped complete this project and I could not have asked for a more knowledgeable group to guide me.

A special thanks to my fellow lab members, both past and present: thank you for your encouragement, experimental contributions, and for having faith in my capabilities. To Delia Heroux, the most awesome lab mate one could ever ask for, I truly could not have gotten through these two years without your help, expertise, support, and positive attitude. To Amy Moorehead for always being available to help; your patience, diligence and enthusiasm were unwavering in our time working with each other, you have a bright future ahead of you. To Jyoti Balhara, for teaching me the tricks of the trade in flow cytometry and Loubna Akhabir for sharing her unrivaled

expertise in genetics. I have learned so much in the short time that I had the pleasure of working with you, you will continue to be my scientific role models in the future. To Damian Tworek and Elli Rosenberg, your clinical capability and mentorship were truly valued. And to the rest of the team, Oleyna Stregyul, Henry Yu, and Seamus O'Byrne you made coming into lab every day a pleasure.

To all those who have contributed to the study: Dr. Doron Sommer and Dr. David Yue who donated their time to perform nasal swabs. To Dr. Paul Keith for his valuable contributions to the project design and to the recruitment process. To Dennis Abraham, Tara Scime and Richard Watson who drew blood and performed methacholine challenges for me amid their own responsibilities, my gratitude to you cannot be understated. To all the study participants who gave their time and endured numerous pricks and scrapes, some even overcoming a fear of needles, your contributions made this study possible.

To my friends, many of whom who volunteered as subjects themselves, you were always there for me when I needed it most. You acted as my support system, my source of encouragement and inspiration. I hope to have many more hikes with the boys, and late night karaoke sessions with Michelle, Rashik, and Desmond. I will cherish the memories we made fondly.

Most importantly to my family, who have given me everything, you are my anchor. I thank you for your continuous love, support and encouragement. I am who I am because of you. I will always continue my journey in the future with optimism because I know you will be there to guide me patiently.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATION AND SYMBOLS	ix
DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHEIVMENT	xiii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
Asthma and Allergic Disease	3
Prevalence	3
Clinical Manifestations and the Diagnosis of Asthma	3
Genetics of Asthma and Allergic Disease	5
Inflammation in Asthma and Allergic Disease	10
Allergic Immune Response	10
Allergic Asthma	10
T _h 2 Cytokines in Asthma and Allergic Disease	
The role of T_h^2 cells in Asthma	16
Airway Epithelium	I7
Airway epitnelium in health and disease	l / 19
Viral infections of the aniway	10
The Stromal Lymphonoietin	
Regulation of TSLP expression	20
TSLP signalling nathways	22
Cellular Targets of TSLP	
TSLP in Allergic Diseases	
TSLP Polymorphisms	
Research Study	
Hypothesis	
Aims	
Scientific Impact	
CHAPTER 2: METHODS	
Study subjects	
Isolation of genomic DNA and genotyping	
Nasal epithelial cell isolation and culture	40
Poly(I:C) stimulation	40
RNA isolation and reverse transcription	41
Quantitative reverse transcription-PCR	41
Cytokine and Chemokine Secretion	
r 10w Cylometry Statistical Analysis	
Stausukai Allaiysis	43
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS	
Subject Characteristics	44
Gene expression differs in a genotype-dependent manner following PolyI:C stimulation	n44

TSLP protein expression in subjects stratified by rs1837253 genotype following 24h stimulat with polyI:C is significantly different.	tion 46
Cell surface protein expression in asthmatic individuals shows no differences compared to n	on-
asthmatic subjects	46
CHADTED 4. DISCUSSION	7/
Gene expression analysis of nasal epithelial cell cultures following polyI:C stimulation	59
Protein expression levels derived from supernatants of polyI:C stimulated nasal epithelial co	ells.
Surface receptor expression levels derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells using fl	63 ow
cytometry.	65
Conclusions	66
Limitations	67
Future Directions	68
REFERENCES	72

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1:

Figure 1. Pathways leading to the early and late allergic response
Figure 2. Regulation of TSLP expression by cytokines and IgE
Figure 3. Cellular targets of epithelial-derived TSLP
Figure 4. Pathophysiology of TSLP in allergic inflammation
Figure 5. Regulation of T _h 1 and T _h 2 differentiation
Chapter 3:
Figure 1: Allele Discrimination Dual Scatter Plot for rs187253 using Taqman Probes
Figure 2: Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) induces thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), RIG-1 and inhibits AP-1 gene expression in human primary nasal epithelial cells (NECs)
Figure 3: Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) induces the expression of the long isoform of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) differently according to genotype of SNP rs183725350
Figure 4: Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) does not alter the expression of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), RIG-1 or AP-1 differently according to atopic status
Figure 5: Relationship between TSLP rs1837253 genotype and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C)-induced secretion of (a) thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) (b) IL-5 (c) GM-CSF (d) INF- γ (e) IL-8 (f) TNF- α in nasal epithelial cells
Figure 6: Relationship between asthmatic status and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C)- induced secretion of (a) thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) (b) IL-5 (c) GM-CSF (d) INF-y (e) IL-8 (f) TNF-α in nasal epithelial cells
Figure 7: Peripheral blood mononuclear cell surface and intracellular cytokine expression in asthmatics (n=15) and non-asthmatics (n=25) using flow cytometry
Figure 8: Peripheral blood mononuclear cell surface and intracellular cytokine expression according to TSLP rs1837253 genotype (CC=17), (CT=15), (TT=8) using flow cytometry55
Figure 9: Relationship between genotype and asthmatic status in polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C)-induced secretion of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP)

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. T _h 2 cytokines in allergic asthma	16
Table 2. Subject Characteristics	47

LIST OF ABBREVIATION AND SYMBOLS

AD	Atopic dermatitis		
AHR	Airway hyperresponsiveness		
AR	Allergic rhinitis		
AP-1	Activator protein-1		
ASM	Airway smooth muscle		
BALF	Bronchoalveolar lavage fluid		
BEC	Bronchial epithelial cells		
BEGM	Bronchial epithelial cell growth medium		
CCL	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand		
CXCL	Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand		
CFU	Colony forming units		
CGRP	Calcitonin gene-related peptide		
DCs	Dendritic cells		
dsRNA	Double stranded ribonucleic acid		
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay		
Eo/B	Eosinophil-basophil		
EOE	Eosinophilic esophagitis		
EPO	Eosinophil peroxidase		
ERK	Extracellular signal regulated kinase		
FceRI	Fc receptors		
FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second		
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase		

GATA	GATA-binding factor		
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor		
GSDMB	Gasdermin B		
GWAS	Genome wide association studies		
HASMC	Human airway smooth muscle cells		
HHP	Human hemopoietic progenitor IFNγ Interferon-gamma		
Ig	Immunoglobulin		
IL	Interleukin		
ILC2	Type 2 innate lymphoid cells		
IL-7Rα	Interleukin-7 receptor-α		
JAK	Janus kinase		
JNK	c-Jun amino-terminal kinase		
LAR	Late asthmatic response		
LD	Linkage disequilibrium		
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide		
mAb	Monoclonal antibody		
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase		
MBP	Major basic protein		
mCD14	Macrophage CD14		
mDCs	Myeloid dendritic cells		
MDC	Macrophage-derived chemokine		
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex		
MKK	MAPK kinase		

MPP	Multi-potent progenitor		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
NEC	Nasal epithelial cells		
NKT	Natural killer T		
ORMDL3	Orosomucoid 1-like 3		
OX40L	OX40 ligand		
PB	Peripheral blood		
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase		
PI(3,4,5)P3	Phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-triphosphate		
PI(4,5)P2	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate		
Poly I:C	Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid		
RIG-1	Retinoic acid-inducible gene 1		
qRT-PCR	Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction		
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus		
RXR	Retinoic X receptors		
SAEC	Small airway epithelial cells		
sCD14	Soluble CD14		
SEM	Standard error of the mean		
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms		
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription		
TARC	Thymus and activation regulated chemokine		
Th	T helper		
TLR	Toll-like receptor		

M.Sc. Thesis – R. Hanna

TNFα Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

- TSLP Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
- VDR Vitamin D receptor
- YWHAZ Tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-monooxygenase activation protein, zeta
- ZPBP2 Zona pellucida binding protein 2

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHEIVMENT

Based on the work of Dr. Claudia Hui and design contributions from Dr. Helen Neighbour, Dr. Paul Keith and Dr. Gail Gauvreau, Dr. Judah Denburg and myself were responsible for the experimental study and recruitment design and the interpretation of the data. Dr. H. Neighbour, Dr. D. Tworek, Dr. D. Sommer and Dr. D. Yue medically assessed all the subjects, and performed the nasal scrape procedure for the collection of nasal epithelial samples. I was responsible for subject recruitment with assistance from T. Scime and R. Watson, who also performed methacholine challenge testing to screen subjects for asthma. Blood was drawn by D. Abraham, D. Heroux, R. Watson and T. Scime. I performed all the experiments described within the following document with assistance from a lab technician (D. Heroux) and two undergraduate students (A. Moorehead and H. Yu) whom I supervised. Drs. Jyoti Balhara and Elli Rosenberg provided valuable technical assistance with flow cytometry. Dr. Loubna Akhabir provided valuable advice on genotyping and gene expression experimental design.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Prevalence of immune-mediated chronic inflammatory diseases including allergy, asthma, allergic rhinitis (AR) and atopic dermatitis (AD); as well as, autoimmune diseases, such as arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease have increased globally in recent decades severely impacting the lives of those living with these conditions. The underlying causes for the increasing prevalence of allergic diseases are not well understood. Complex gene-environment interactions have been postulated to be the reason for this recent rise (Alfvén et al., 2006). The presence of atopic disorders in an individual's family history is an independent risk factor for the development of atopic disease in their children. However, the rapid increase in the incidence rates of allergic disease downplay the risk of genetic predisposition and supports the substantial role played by environmental and lifestyle changes in light of the emergence of hyper-hygienic modern industrialized populations in the development of allergic disease (Sandford et al., 1996; Steinke et al., 2008). For allergic diseases, the latter has been articulated as the hygiene hypothesis, according to which increased hygiene and cleanliness may have divested the immune system of bacterially and virally-evoked T helper (T_h) type 1 (T_h) immune responses during early childhood, thus shifting the lifelong trajectory of the immune response towards a T_h2 bias (Eisenbarth et al., 2004). However, studies have reported that T_h1-mediated autoimmune and T_h2-mediated atopic diseases are not mutually exclusive, but associated; which may help explain, in part, the paradoxical rise in T_h1-driven autoimmune diseases (Sheikh et al., 2003; Simpson et al., 2002). Current evidence suggests that the $T_{\rm h}2$ paradigm may be oversimplified and that gene-environment interactions may be critical in determining allergic sensitization and its clinical outcome (Duffy et al., 1990).

Recent genome wide association studies (GWAS) and meta-analyses of GWAS have identified common and distinct genes and pathways that contribute to allergic diseases. The first GWAS on asthma by the GABRIEL consortium discovered a novel locus on chromosome 17q2, which encompasses the genes orosomucoid 1-like 3 (ORMDL3), gasdermin B (GSDMB) and zona pellucida binding protein 2 (ZPBP2), to be associated with susceptibility for early-onset childhood asthma (Moffatt et al., 2007). Two other GWAS, the phase II GABRIEL study and the EVE study, later identified associations between asthma and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in four loci (thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), IL-33, IL1RL1, 17q21 locus) (Moffatt et al., 2010; Torgerson et al., 2011). It has been demonstrated that TSLP is upregulated in bronchial biopsies from asthmatic individuals; and its secretion, with subsequent allergic inflammatory responses, can be further induced by various stimuli such as viruses and allergens (Uller et al., 2010; Ying et al., 2005). Elevated levels of TSLP can subsequently further skew $T_h 1/T_h 2$ balance by promoting T_h2-type responses through activation of dendritic cells (DCs) as well as hemopoietic progenitor cells (Allakhverdi et al., 2009; Soumelis et al., 2002). The SNP rs1837253 in the upstream region of TSLP gene - the protein product of which is highlighted in this thesis as a key molecule which orchestrates T_h2 immune responses – was highly significantly, inversely associated with allergic asthma and related traits (He et al., 2009). Recently it has been shown that rs1837253 polymorphism may be directly involved in the regulation of TSLP secretion. This may help explain the protective association of this genetic variant with asthma and related traits. Given the critical immuno-modulatory role of TSLP in allergic inflammation, identifying functional consequences of SNPs in genes along with clinical phenotypic associations is critical in understanding and targeting allergic inflammation. The rest of this chapter will cover allergic inflammation and the pathophysiology of asthma and allergic diseases and finally, the role of TSLP in allergic diseases.

Asthma and Allergic Disease

Prevalence

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease which affects more than 300 million people worldwide (Urbano, 2008) and leads to an estimated 250 000 annual deaths per year (Bousquet et al., 2007). Prevalence rates for asthma increase by 50% every decade (Masoli et al., 2004). According to Statistics Canada, in 2014, 8.1% of Canadians aged 12 and older, and roughly 2.4 million people in the country, reported that they had been diagnosed with asthma by a health professional (Statistics Canada, 2014). Asthma is also the most common childhood disease affecting at least 13% of Canadian children and is a major cause of hospitalizations (Garner and Kohen, 2008), (Millar and Hill, 1998), approximately 146 000 emergency room visits annually are due to asthma exacerbations (Canadian Lung Association, 1994). Quality of life can be affected not only by asthma attacks, but also by absences from work and limitations in other activities (Chen et al., 2005). The global economic costs associated with asthma exceed those of tuberculosis and HIV/AIDS combined (Braman, 2006). The increased prevalence and economic impact of asthma emphasises the necessity for a better understanding of the mechanisms of its pathology as a means of providing potential markers and therapeutic targets to more effectively treat this healthcare burden.

Clinical Manifestations and the Diagnosis of Asthma

The clinical symptoms of asthma include recurrent episodes of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness and coughing. Physiologically, it is characterized by reversible airflow obstruction which is associated with inflammation of the airways and airway hyper-responsiveness (AHR) (Murphy and O'Byrne, 2010). AHR is a characteristic feature of asthma consisting of an increased sensitivity of the airways to constrictor agonists, as indicated by a smaller concentration of a

constrictor agonist needed to initiate the bronchoconstriction response, a steeper slope of the doseresponse, and a greater maximal response to the agonist (O'Byrne and Inman, 2003). AHR is related to disease severity and is often used as a defining characteristic in asthma diagnosis (Townley and Horiba, 2003).

To measure AHR, a bronchoprovocation test is administered where measurements with a spirometer are made after the patient inhales incremental doses of methacholine (MCh). Spirometry is a physiological test that measures how an individual inhales or exhales volumes of air as a function of time. The primary signal measured in spirometry may be volume or flow. Spirometry is invaluable as a screening test of general respiratory health (Miller et al., 2005). The most important indices for assessing airway obstruction are forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), the volume of air exhaled in the first second of a forced expiration from full inspiration, and forced vital capacity (FVC) which is the maximum volume of air that can be exhaled following full inspiration (Miller et al., 2005). A ratio of FEV₁/FVC less than 0.75 suggests airflow limitation (GINA, 2017).

The provocative concentration PC_{20} is the concentration of constrictor agonist required to cause a 20% fall in FEV₁ compared to baseline values (Cockcroft et al., 1983). Non-asthmatic subjects generally have a provocative concentration of a substance (histamine or methacholine) PC_{20} higher than 16mg/mL in the absence of corticosteroid therapy which indicates normal lung function. Asthmatic subjects generally have a provocative concentration of less than 8 mg/mL. There is, however, some overlap, and defining an exact level of airway responsiveness, which would distinguish asthmatic subjects from non-asthmatic subjects, is not possible. This is because there appears to be a continuous distribution of nonspecific airway responsiveness in the general population, with asthmatic subjects in one tail of this distribution (O'Byrne and Inman, 2003). Thus, to diagnose asthma, FEV1/FVC is measured at a baseline and 15-20 minutes after administering a fast acting bronchodilator (such as 200µg albuterol). An improvement by more than 12% and 200mL indicates reversibility of the airflow obstruction and suggests the individual may have asthma and not irreversible obstructive diseases such as COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) (Bateman et al., 2008).

Genetics of Asthma and Allergic Disease

Heritability is the proportion of variation in a measureable trait or risk of the presence or absence of a disease that can be attributed to genetic variation (Mathias, 2014). In the early twentieth century familial aggregation, or clustering, of asthma was recognized and provided the first evidence implicating the genetic basis of its development (Sakula, 1988; Wiener et al., 1936). Further evidence of the genetic contribution to asthma can be demonstrated by twin studies where the concordance for asthma and other allergic twin was higher in monozygotic twins than dizygotic twins. However, there is an absence of complete concordance in monozygotic twins for these phenotypes, clearly indicating that environment plays a significant role in asthma development. Overall a tremendous range in the heritability of asthma is seen in family and twin studies, ranging from 36 to 95 % with higher estimates generally observed in studies implementing more objective diagnostic criteria (van Beijsterveldt and Boomsma, 2007; Duffy et al., 1990; Edfors-Lubs, 1971; Fagnani et al., 2008; Hallstrand et al., 2005; Koeppen-Schomerus et al., 2001; Nystad et al., 2005; Skadhauge et al., 1999; Thomsen et al., 2010; Willemsen et al., 2008). The degree of heritability is highly reliant on the relative contribution of genetic and environmental variability, reflective of the complex interplay of genes and environment. The multi-factorial nature of asthma along with its complex genetic background greatly complicates the search for genetic loci that cumulatively contribute to asthma. Despite this, there has been tremendous success in identifying the genetic determinants of this disease.

Genetic studies of asthma have been conducted using family-based designs that detect the co-inheritance (linkage) of genetic variants with the phenotype. The power of this approach is that genes are detected by virtue of their chromosomal location alone and not on the basis of prior knowledge of their function. Therefore, the entire human genome can be screened in an unbiased fashion. Several novel genes such as ADAM33, DPP10, NPSR1(GPRA), PHF11 and HLA-G were identified as putative susceptibility loci using this approach. However, linkage studies are well powered to detect rare high-risk disease-causing alleles but are less successful at detecting risk alleles with modest effect sizes that may be more prevalent in the population (Risch and Merikangas, 1996). In a recent meta-analyses of 20 genome-wide linkage studies there were only two chromosomal regions (2p21–p14 and 6p21) that showed significant evidence for linkage in European families, after adjustment for multiple comparisons indicating very poor reproducibility for the available linkage study data (Bouzigon et al., 2010).

Thus hypothesis-driven association studies of asthma candidate genes using a case-control design are an alternate approach. The main advantage to this approach is the specificity of the given hypothesis in turn lacking the stringent thresholds set in place with significance testing in the more unbiased genome-wide approaches. On the other hand, the approach is limited in that it does not include novel loci that may add to the understanding of asthma biology. Each candidate gene study generally only considers a gene in contrast to the pathway from which the biological candidacy is determined and often there is lack of replication between studies because of the lack of consideration of environmental effects (Mathias, 2014). In addition the candidate gene approach is often limited through small sample sizes, differences in phenotype definition and lack of

adequate matching of study subjects for ethnic background (Cardon and Bell, 2001). A factor that must be taken into consideration in association studies is the phenomenon of linkage disequilibrium (LD), which is the association between alleles at different sites on a chromosome. LD tends to be lower for polymorphisms that are further apart (due to the effect of recombination), although there is not a simple relationship between LD and genetic distance.

In addition, linkage disequilibrium (LD) needs to be considered in association studies. LD is the association between alleles at different sites on a chromosome. LD tends to be lower for polymorphisms that are further apart (due to recombination effects), however there is no simple relationship between LD and genetic distance. The pattern of LD across the genome is not uniform and as a result a polymorphism may be in LD with several nearby variants, any one of which could be the causal locus (Akhabir and Sandford, 2011). Most recently, the association study design has been extended from the examination of a specific candidate gene to an unbiased, genome-wide approach. It has been estimated that to adequately survey the entire genome, a large number of genetic polymorphisms (250 000 to 1 million) is likely to be required. However, the number of polymorphisms will vary between studies as different populations have different levels of LD.

Most recently, the association study design has been extended from the examination of a specific candidate gene to an unbiased, genome-wide approach (Manolio, 2010). Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) utilize genotyping arrays consisting of up to millions of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) as they are the most efficiently assayed type of genetic variant. However, the number of polymorphisms will vary between studies as different populations have different levels of LD (International HapMap Consortium, 2005; Kruglyak, 1999). In the most commonly used approach to GWAS the genotype frequencies at each SNP are compared between cases and controls. However, due the large number of comparisons the use of extremely stringent

statistical correction to avoid an overwhelmingly large number of false positive results is required. Therefore, very large sample sizes are needed in such studies if genome-wide statistical significance is to be achieved, for example, several thousand cases and controls. On the other hand, the large amount of genetic data generated in these studies allows efficient correction for differences in ethnic background using a subset of ancestry informative markers (polymorphisms that differ markedly in frequency between different populations) (Schork et al., 2009).

The first comprehensive GWAS in asthma was conducted by Moffatt et al. in 2007, and identified a novel locus on 17q21 locus containing a number of genes including ORMDL3 and GSDML (Moffatt et al., 2007). Subsequent GWAS utilizing genotyping arrays identified further loci consistently associated with asthma including IL33 on chromosome 9p24, HLA-DR/DQ on 6p21, IL1RL1/IL18R1 on 2q12, WDR36/TSLP on 5q22, and IL13 on 5q31 (Queiroz et al., 2017; Torgerson et al., 2011). In populations with dissimilar racial backgrounds, GWAS have uncovered evidence for loci that may be specific to particular ethnic groups, such as PHYNN1 observed in African-American asthmatics (Torgerson et al., 2011).

In other genetic studies, the regulation of total IgE levels in serum has been associated with polymorphisms on the fifth chromosome, including the gene for the β chain of Fc ϵ RI and the IL-4 family of cytokines, which may contribute allergic disease development (Basehore et al., 2004; Hill and Cookson, 1996). SNP Analyses of toll-like receptor (TLR) gene variants have revealed that alteration in TLR1, TLR6 and TLR9 have protective effects on atopic asthma in children (Kormann et al., 2008). Another gene with associations to allergic diseases is CD14, which encodes for the high-affinity receptor for bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS). This receptor exists as a membrane molecule on monocytes and macrophages (mCD14) and as a soluble form (sCD14) in serum (Frey et al., 1992). A polymorphism in the CD14 gene has been associated with elevated

sCD14 and lower total serum IgE levels and may be involved in certain IgE- protective TLRmediated responses. Elevated levels of sCD14 have the ability to disrupt the $T_h 1/T_h 2$ balance by antagonizing the pro-inflammatory response of mCD14 expressing cells to LPS via release of IL-12 from CD14 negative dendritic cells, favouring $T_h 1$ responses, and thus reducing the probability of an IgE response to allergens (Baldini et al., 1999). Polymorphisms in STAT6, a member of the Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription (STAT) family acts as a transcription factor for activating genes involved in IgE synthesis and in $T_h 2$ -associated processes, have been associated with higher serum IgE levels (Weidinger et al., 2004). Other genes such as IL-13 and vitamin D receptor (VDR) have been implicated as conferring risk for asthma and allergic disease in many genetic association studies (Ober and Hoffjan, 2006). Variants in VDR have been linked to asthma, atopy and IgE levels. SNPs in IL-13 have consistently been replicated to show associations with asthma, atopic asthma, atopy, IgE levels and AHR (Maier et al., 2006).

Recently, an SNP (rs1837253) in the TSLP gene has been shown to be highly negatively associated with asthma and AHR, while the IL-33 and IL-1R1 genes have been positively associated with asthma and eosinophil counts respectively; these latter observations suggest that the airway epithelium plays a major role in regulating susceptibility of asthma and related traits (Harada et al., 2009; Yan et al., 2017). To date, numerous loci that are linked to asthma and allergic phenotypes have been identified. In this thesis, there will be an emphasis on the rs1837253 variant SNP in the TSLP gene, its functional role in TSLP production and its clinical significance to the asthmatic phenotype. Of course, as with other complex diseases, single gene associations cannot explain fully the degree of heritability found among asthmatics, for this a multi-genetic approach that also takes into account gene-environment interactions is necessary (Moffatt et al., 2010; Yan

et al., 2017). Furthermore, to better understand the development of asthma and allergic diseases, the causal mechanism(s) behind the identified associations must be elucidated.

Inflammation in Asthma and Allergic Disease

Allergic Immune Response

The production of immunoglobulin (Ig)-E antibodies in response to environmental substances known as allergens is referred to as atopy. In humans, atopic sensitization is confirmed by a positive skin prick test and/or detectable serum levels of specific IgE antibodies to one or more known allergens (Arshad et al., 2001). In contrast, allergy refers to the hypersensitivity reaction and IgE- mediated inflammatory response to allergens, resulting in one or more allergic diseases, such as asthma, AR, AD and food allergy. Although atopy is considered a risk factor for allergic diseases (Kay, 2001), the prevalence of atopic sensitization in asthma have been reported to be \leq 50% (Pearce et al., 1999). Therefore, not everyone with atopy develops clinical manifestations of allergies and similarly, not everyone who has clinical manifestations of allergic-type inflammation is atopic (Goksör et al., 2016).

Allergic Asthma

Asthma is an immune disorder of the airways involving multiple inflammatory cells and mediators (GINA, 2017). Clinically, it is typified by symptoms such as wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness and coughing and bronchial hyper-responsiveness and pathologically by chronic inflammation and structural alterations in the airways, also referred to as remodelling. IgE is a central mediator of allergic reactions, including allergic asthma, and has a central role in asthma-related symptoms, airway inflammation and, possibly, airway remodelling (Holgate et al., 2005; Rabe et al., 2011).

In allergic asthmatic patients, contact with allergens to which they are sensitized results in the rapid release of pro-inflammatory mediators that trigger immediate contraction of airway smooth muscle (ASM) and increased mucus production and the symptoms of the early allergic/asthmatic response (EAR), that is, wheezing, shortness of breath, chest tightness and cough. The EAR results from IgE-mediated mast cell and basophil activation following allergen induced cross-linking. Mast cells and basophils release preformed mediators such as histamine, leukotrienes, and prostaglandin-D2 (PGD2) which cause bronchoconstriction and vascular permeability (Gauvreau and Evans, 2007). In addition, these mast cell derived mediators can prompt the influx of other pro-inflammatory cells, such as T-lymphocytes, eosinophils, basophils and neutrophils into the airways (Afshar et al., 2008; Averbeck et al., 2007; Platts-Mills et al., 2007). Moreover, these pro-inflammatory cells and chemokines attract and activate inflammatory cells, which release more pro-inflammatory mediators. In 50% of people this leads to a slower reaction which develops 4 to 8 hours later, and is known as the late allergic/asthmatic response (LAR). The LAR is also associated with further release of histamine and leukotrienes produced by mast cells and/or basophils (Davis et al., 2009). However, LAR is primarily characterized by inflammatory infiltration and bronchoconstriction and leads to tissue remodeling.

Remodeling of the airways is a central feature of asthma, especially severe asthma; it can lead to fixed airway obstruction and refractoriness to treatment (James, 2005; Pascual and Peters, 2005). Various elements of the airway wall are involved in the structural transformation observed during remodeling. Shedding of the epithelial, thickening of the reticular basement membrane (RBM), goblet cell hyperplasia, smooth muscle hyperplasia and hypertrophy, sub-epithelial fibrosis and angiogenesis are some of the primary findings commonly observed in remodeled airways. While we currently do not a complete understanding of the underlying mechanisms of

airway remodeling, the presence of chronic persistent inflammation, involving longstanding exposure of the airways to a variety of environmental agents, cells and mediators, is generally considered a necessary trademark of remodeling. The disruption of T_h1 and T_h2 balance is thought to drive the development of asthma pathology, progressing to the respiratory pathophysiology previously mentioned.

Helper T lymphocyte immune imbalance is readily associated with IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 producing T_h2 cells, which can lead to increased tissue numbers of activated mast cells and/or eosinophils (Humbert et al., 1999). Following inhalation, allergens encounter antigen presenting dendritic cells lining the airway sub-epithelium. These dendritic cells bind to the antigen (allergen) and travel to draining lymph nodes, where T-cells undergo antigen presentation. This results in elevated T-helper 2 cells (T_h2 cells) proliferation which trigger the over-expression of T_h2 cytokines interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-9, and IL-13. T_h2 cytokines and co-stimulatory factors are involved in activating B-cells to produce Immunoglobulin E (IgE) antibody. Allergen-specific IgE can then circulate throughout the blood and bind to IgE receptors (FceRI or FceRII) found on inflammatory cells (mast cells, basophils, lymphocytes, eosinophils) stimulating the inflammatory activity of these cells during subsequent allergen exposure (Busse and Lemanske, 2001; Gauvreau and Evans, 2007).



Figure 1. Pathways leading to the early and late allergic response. Antigen-induced release of histamine and lipid mediators from mast cells results in the early allergic response. The late allergic response depends on multiple pathways including infiltration of eosinophils and release of MC products (adapted from (Kay, 2001)).

T_h2 Cytokines in Asthma and Allergic Disease

 T_h2 cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 are primary drivers of the allergic inflammatory response while T_h1 -type cytokines such as interferon gamma (IFN γ) and IL-12 antagonize T_h2 immune responses (Novak and Bieber, 2003). CD4+ T_h2 cells predominantly produce IL-4 and IL-13, which stimulate B cells to produce allergen-specific IgE antibodies, whereas IL- 5 acts to promote eosinophilia and IL-9 and IL-13 contribute to AHR in asthma (Kay, 2006; Kouro and Takatsu, 2009; Robinson, 2010; Shimbara et al., 2000). As such, messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) expression for many signature T_h2 cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, IL-13 and IL-9, is increased in bronchial biopsies from allergic and/or asthmatic individuals, compared to normal controls (Hamid et al., 1991; Humbert et al., 1999; Ying et al., 1997). In addition, asthmatic patients expressing IL-5 mRNA in the airway show a significant increase in the number of activated T cells and activated eosinophils when compared to healthy controls. IL-5 mRNA expression in bronchial biopsies also correlates with symptom severity and AHR in atopic asthma, indicating that it may play an important role in driving disease (Humbert et al., 1999). IL-13 plays a key role in the allergic response by inducing mucus hyper-secretion from goblet cells and ASM contraction, leading to the airway remodeling and subsequent reduction in airflow, characteristic of asthma (Nakajima and Takatsu, 2007; Robinson, 2010). Similar to IL-13, IL-9 has been reported to induce airway inflammation, mucus hyper-secretion, as well as AHR; elevated expression of IL-9 in allergic asthmatics has been shown to correlate with AHR (Hauber et al., 2004; Shimbara et al., 2000). Lastly, IL-9 has been shown to enhance eosinophil survival and IL-5-mediated eosinophil (and mast cell) differentiation and maturation, suggesting that IL-9 may potentiate eosinophil function in vivo (Gounni et al., 2000; Sitkauskiene et al., 2005).

Aside from classical T_h2 cytokines, epithelial cell–derived cytokines such as TSLP, IL-25 and IL-33, which are elevated in the airways of asthmatics, are secreted following epithelial stimulation, tissue damage, pathogen pattern recognition or allergen exposure, and have the capacity to initiate T_h2 responses at mucosal sites (Préfontaine et al., 2010; Saenz et al., 2008; Ying et al., 2005). The IL-33 and TSLP genes have emerged as two of the strongest associations for the development of asthma and related traits (He et al., 2009; Moffatt et al., 2010; Yi et al., 2017). The most established mechanism for TSLP-driven T_h2 inflammation is via the TSLP-DC axis whereby CD4+ T cells are primed towards a T_h2-biased immune response (Soumelis et al., 2002). IL-33, which has been shown to induce TSLP production from epithelial cells, has been reported to induce eosinophilia, secretion of IgE and Th2 cytokines in mice (Saenz et al., 2008; Schmitz et al., 2005). In addition to driving T_h2 cytokine, IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13, production in T cells, IL-25 has also been shown to induce eosinophilia in murine models while delaying apoptosis of human eosinophils (Cheung et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2002; Larché et al., 2003; Pan et al., 2001). Furthermore, polymorphisms in the IL-25 receptor (IL-17RB) have been associated with asthma (Jung et al., 2009). More recently TSLP, IL-33 and IL-25 have been shown to activate a newly identified population of lineage-negative lymphoid cells (multi-potent progenitor type 2 (MPPtype2) cells, nuocytes and type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) that produce IL-5 and IL-13 and also establish a T_h2-biased immune response, including mucus production and eosinophilia (Mjösberg et al., 2011; Moro et al., 2010; Saenz et al., 2010a; Vissinga et al., 2013). Therefore, in the appropriate circumstance and genetic context, TSLP, IL-33 and IL-25 have emerged as key regulators of the allergic responses. Table 1 provides a summary of T_h2 cytokines involved in allergic responses.

CYTOKINE	PRIMARY CELLULAR SOURCE	MAJOR CELLULAR TARGETS	EFFECTS
IL-4	Th2 cells, Basophils, Mast cells	Th2 cells, B cells, Basophils	IgE isotype switching, Mast cell development, Eosinophil and basophil activation, mucus, secretion, induction of Th2 cytokines
IL-5	Th2 cells, Eosinophils, ILC2	Eosinophils, Basophils, CD34+ cells	Eosinophil and basophil differentiation, maturation and activation
IL-9	Th2 Cells, Th9 cells, IL-9 Eosinophils, Mast cells	Smooth muscle, Epithelium, Mast cells	Mast cell and eosinophil development, AHR, mucus secretion
IL-13	Th2 cells, ILC2	Smooth muscle, Epithelium	Mast cell development, B-cell switch to IgE production, eosinophilia, AHR, mucus hypersecretion
TSLP	Epithelium, Basophils, Mast cells	Th2 cells, DCs, Basophils, ILC2	Basophil and DC activation, induction of Th2 responses (including CD34+ cell IL-5/IL-13 production)
IL-33	Epithelium, ASM, DCs	Th2 cells, Basophils, DCs, Nuocytes,	Basophil activation, enhancing eosinophilia and IgE secretion, induction of Th2 responses
IL-25	Epithelium, Th2 cells, Eosinophils, Basophils, Mast cells	Th2 cells, Basophils, DCs, MPP, Nuocytes,	Th2 development and IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 production
TSLP, thymic stromal lymphopoietin; ASM, airway smooth muscle; DCs, dendritic cells; ILC2, type 2 innate lymphoid			

Table 1. T_h2 cytokines in allergic asthma

The role of $T_h 2$ cells in Asthma

There is increasing evidence that airway narrowing and AHR in asthma are not mediated solely through the activation of mast cells and basophils, but that allergen-specific T cells play an important role in regulating airway tone and reactivity (Ali et al., 2004, 2007, Haselden et al., 1999, 2001). Classically, the mechanisms by which T_h2 cytokines have been thought to primarily contribute to the pathogenesis of asthma have been via IgE synthesis, maturation and activation of effector cells, such as mast cells and basophils, and IL-5-mediated eosinophil infiltration, resulting in damage to the epithelium and AHR (Kay, 2001). Recently however, it has been postulated by many that the late asthmatic response (LAR) is elicited by leukotrienes released by eosinophils,

which are recruited following the release of IL-5 from allergen-specific T cells. In a randomized, double-blinded trial, Leckie et al. reported the inability of the mAb to IL-5 to reduce the magnitude of LAR following allergen challenge; however, subsequent studies in selected patients showed benefits of IL-5 blockade (Haldar et al., 2009; Leckie et al., 2000; Nair et al., 2009)

Airway Epithelium

Airway epithelium in health and disease

The airway epithelium consists of a pseudostratified mucosal layer, with basal, ciliated, mucus secreting goblet and surfactant secreting club cells. The airway epithelium functions as a highly regulated immune barrier through the formation of tight junctions in healthy individuals (Xiao et al., 2011). Furthermore, epithelial cells undergo rapid regeneration and repair whereby basal epithelial cells differentiate and proliferate to restore the damage caused by inhaled viruses. allergen and other environmental factors (Olivera et al., 2007; Rezaee et al., 2011; Runswick et al., 2007). Finally, the airway epithelium regulates the innate and adaptive immune response by secreting inflammatory cytokines/chemokines, resulting in the recruitment of, and direct interactions with, tissue leukocytes (Holgate, 2011). In asthma, the airway epithelium shows impaired repair responses and decreased barrier function, which result from inefficient tight junction formation (Xiao et al., 2011). This leads to enhanced access of environmental stimuli, which may alter mediator production and, consequently, result in improper downstream adaptive immune responses (Holgate, 2011; Proud and Leigh, 2011). For example, compared to healthy epithelial cells, asthmatic airway epithelial cells release more pro-inflammatory mediators, including IL-13, TSLP, IL-25, IL-33, CCL17, CCL5, CCL2 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-3 (Soumelis et al., 2002). Furthermore, after in vitro infection of cultured asthmatic epithelial cells, there is impaired virus elimination and increased cytotoxic cell death, due to

impaired production of IFN- β and IFN- λ , cytokines responsible for viral clearance and induction of apoptosis by healthy epithelial cells (Contoli et al., 2006; Wark et al., 2005).

Viral infections of the airway

Viral infection mainly occurs through the airway, infecting and replicating in epithelial cells, triggering the release of pro-inflammatory mediators, including TSLP, initiating the inflammatory cascade (Esnault et al., 2008). This inflammatory process is essential in the eradication of an infection, yet it can enhance any pre-existing airway inflammation in asthmatics, contributing to increased airway obstruction (Gern, 2010). DNA viruses synthesize double stranded (ds)RNA during replication, which are a natural source of TLR3 ligands, are potent inducers of TSLP mRNA. Previous studies have demonstrated that in vitro stimulation with dsRNA induced TSLP expression in small airway epithelial cells (SAEC) and primary bronchial epithelial cells (BEC) from both healthy and asthmatic individuals, with disproportionately higher levels secreted from asthmatic epithelial cells (Allakhverdi et al., 2007a; Kato et al., 2007; Schröder and Bowie, 2005; Uller et al., 2010). Furthermore, dsRNA and Th2 cytokines synergistically induced TSLP production by epithelial cells in a TLR3-dependent manner (Kato et al., 2007). Similarly, following respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection, Lee et al. reported enhanced TSLP secretion from asthmatic epithelial cells (Lee et al., 2012). Furthermore, asthmatic BEC have been shown to produce higher levels of inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand (CXCL)8, GM-CSF) following RSV infection, which correlated with increased inflammatory responses to viral infections in vivo (Contoli et al., 2005; Hackett et al., 2011). Thus, TSLP triggers DC-mediated T_b2-biased inflammatory responses with induction of IL-4, which may have paracrine effects on viral induced epithelial-derived TSLP, resulting in the perpetuation of the inflammatory response (Liu, 2006). Over the years, many respiratory viruses have been identified with the capacity to generate T_h 2-biased responses, a characteristic feature of allergic diseases. However, the work described in this thesis will focus specifically on how synthetic dsRNA-activated nasal epithelial cells are involved in the development of a T_h 2 response.

Nasal Epithelial cells

Epithelial cells in the airways are among the first sites to encounter inhaled environmental stressors, such as pathogens, allergens or air pollutants. Epithelial cells are more than a structural barrier however, acting as a point of control initiating and regulating the respiratory immune response via the production of soluble mediators, and the expression of surface ligands and receptors (Borchers et al., 2006; Sanders et al., 2011; Swamy et al., 2010; Vareille et al., 2011). While immortalized cell lines can be used as *in vitro* models to study respiratory epithelial cells, they fail to differentiate into heterogeneous cell populations composed of polarized ciliated and mucus producing cells, similar to what is observed in vivo. To reproduce important characteristics of the respiratory epithelium observed *in vivo*, primary airway epithelial cells can be used, such as nasal epithelial cells (NECs) obtained from human volunteers. The NECs are expanded and cultured *in vitro*, yielding a cell culture model of differentiated NECs which mimics many of the features of the nasal epithelium seen in vivo offering a unique potential to study disease specific differences of NECs, physiological parameters associated with the airway epithelium, or the interactions between epithelial cells and other cell types, such as dendritic cell, natural killer cells or macrophages (Horvath et al., 2011; Müller et al., 2013a). Several existing methods utilize bronchial epithelial cells obtained invasively via brush biopsies during bronchoscopies, or from otherwise discarded lung tissue (Lopez-Souza et al., 2003; Turi et al., 2002; Zimmermann et al., 2009). Obtaining fresh NECs, as compared to bronchial or small airway epithelial cells, is less costly, invasive and is associated with fewer side effects. Non-invasive superficial scrape biopsies

to obtain NECs allow the a priori delineation of subject characteristics in accordance with the experimental design (Müller et al., 2013).

Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin

Regulation of TSLP expression

A range of cells in the airway system (epithelial cells, smooth muscle cells, DCs, basophils, and mast cells) has been shown to have the ability to produce TSLP (Allakhverdi et al., 2007a; Kato et al., 2007; Lee and Ziegler, 2007; Soumelis et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2007). Expression of TSLP is regulated by several factors, both exogenous stimuli (e.g., injury, infection, TLR ligation) and host-derived pro-inflammatory and T_h2 cytokines (Allakhverdi et al., 2007a). Pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF α have been shown to induce TSLP expression in human BEC (Hui et al., 2014; Kato et al., 2007; Lee and Ziegler, 2007). Similarly, IL-1 β and TNF α was shown to induce TSLP production in small airway epithelial cells (SAEC) and human airway smooth muscle cells (HASMC) respectively (Allakhverdi et al., 2007a; Zhang et al., 2007). The induction of TSLP in airway epithelial cells by inflammatory T_h2 cytokines has been shown to be regulated by NFkB (Lee and Ziegler, 2007). In HASMC, aside from NFkB, the upregulation of TSLP by inflammatory T_h2 cytokines is also regulated by the transcription factor, activating protein 1 (AP-1), as well as p38 and ERK MAPK signaling pathways (Redhu et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2007).

The ability of bacterial peptidoglycan and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) to induce TSLP expression was first shown in SAEC (Allakhverdi et al., 2007a). The combination of TLR3 ligand (dsRNA) and T_h2 cytokines, in particular, IL-4 and TNF α , has been shown to significantly enhance TSLP production in BEC in an NFkB-dependent manner (Kato et al., 2007). Furthermore, infection of BEC with rhinovirus or RSV, viruses known to trigger asthma exacerbations, results in the production of TSLP (Kato et al., 2007; Tu et al., 2007). Recent data suggest that the long form of TSLP is highly inducible by polyI:C in BEC. A functional SNP, rs3806933, has been identified in the regulatory element of the gene for the long form of TSLP, which creates a binding site for the transcription factor AP-1. This SNP enhances the binding of AP-1, leading to enhanced polyI:C-induced production of TSLP in BEC (Harada et al., 2009). In a murine AR model, mast cells were shown to upregulate TSLP expression in nasal epithelial cells following allergen challenge (Miyata et al., 2008).

Aside from regulating TSLP expression, mast cells activated by monoclonal antibodies that cross-link FccRI have been reported to express TSLP mRNA (Okayama et al., 2009). Murine basophils, activated by protease allergens, were also reported to produce TSLP, along with other T_h2 inducing cytokines; furthermore, activated basophils in the lymph nodes have been shown to produce TSLP (Sokol et al., 2008). Although DCs are the major target of TSLP, surprisingly both human and murine DCs produce TSLP following TLR-ligation (Kashyap et al., 2011). Collectively, these findings suggest TSLP expression can be regulated by inflammatory stimuli produced by both innate and adaptive immune cells. Finally, in skin keratinocytes, TSLP gene expression has been reported to be regulated by both VDR and retinoic X receptors (RXR). Ablation of RXR α and RXR β in keratinocytes resulted in enhanced TSLP expression and development of chronic skin inflammation in mice (Li et al., 2005, 2006).


Figure 2. Regulation of TSLP expression by cytokines and IgE. Positive and negative regulation (induction of TSLP mRNA or protein expression, and enhancement or inhibition of TSLP expression by other stimuli) is shown. Positive effects of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α and IL-1) and Th2 cytokines (IL-4 and IL-13) are observed across various cell types. Cross-linking of FccRI-bound IgE induces TSLP expression in mast cells and IgE without cross-linking induces TSLP expression in airway smooth muscle cells (ASMCs). Promotion of TSLP expression by IgE and Th2- related cytokines (IL-4, IL-13, IL-25, and IL-33) indicates amplification cycles. (adapted from (Takai, 2012))

TSLP signalling pathways

TSLP is expressed mainly by epithelial cells and keratinocytes at barrier surfaces. Its expression in the epidermis, epithelium, and submucosa in skin, airway, and ocular tissues plays a critical role in the sensitization process and exacerbation of allergic diseases. An initial analysis by real-time quantitative PCR in a panel of cDNA libraries from different cells or cell lines and a panel of purified primary cells indicated that keratinocytes, epithelial cells, smooth

muscle cells, and lung fibroblasts, cultured in growth medium and stem cell-derived mast cells activated by cross-linking of high- affinity IgE receptors (FceRI) express TSLP mRNA in large amounts. Airway smooth muscle cells activated by IL-4, IL-13, and TNF- α and keratinocytes activated by TNF- α and IL-1 β expressed higher TSLP mRNA levels than cells cultured in medium alone. Recent studies also have reported that not only keratinocytes and epithelial cells but also various other cell types can express TSLP mRNA and/or protein (Takai, 2012).

Despite the significant role of TSLP in driving T_h2 inflammation, knowledge of TSLP/TSLP receptor (TSLPR) signaling is limited. As a member of the hematopoietin receptor family, it was originally thought that the TSLPR would use JAKs to activate STAT proteins downstream of the TSLPR. It was later shown that TSLP stimulation of multiple cell lines did in fact lead to STAT-5 phosphorylation. However, initial experiments in these cell lines showed that TSLPR signaling occurred in the absence of JAK activation, and dominant-negative forms of JAK-1 and -2 did not affect TSLP-mediated STAT-5 activation (Isaksen et al., 1999; Levin et al., 1999). Several alternatives were implicated in TSLPR signaling, such as Src kinases and PI3K (Isaksen et al., 2002). However, two recent investigations have demonstrated robust and sustained activation of JAK-1 and -2 following TSLP signaling in primary human DCs and primary human and mouse CD4+ T cells (Arima et al., 2010; Rochman et al., 2010). The TSLPR subunit bound and used JAK-2 in concert with IL-7Rα-associated JAK-1. These latest findings resolve a longstanding question about the mode of TSLP signaling and show that TSLP-induced JAK activation precedes the activation of STAT proteins. Whereas multiple cell lineages express the functional TSLPR and respond to TSLP *in vivo*, most studies about TSLP-activated signaling pathways have been done in DCs and T cells (Ziegler et al., 2013). TSLP induced STAT-5 and STAT-1

phosphorylation in CD4+ T cells while activating STAT-1, -3, -4, -5, and -6 in human mDCs (Roan et al., 2012).

In human myeloid dendritic cells (mDCs), not including from STAT2, TSLP has been shown to be capable of activating all other known STATs. Noticeably, TSLP-activated STAT6 binds to the promoter region of CCL17, a T_h2-attracting chemokine, which helps to explain the unique ability of TSLP-activated DC to secrete CCL17 (Arima et al., 2010). Furthermore, TSLPactivated DCs have been shown to activate PI3K/AKT, ERK, JNK MAPK, and NFkB-dependent pathways (Semlali et al., 2010). TSLP has also recently been shown to activate murine CD4+ T cells, resulting in STAT6 dependent T_h2 differentiation. In BEC, TSLP activates both STAT3 and STAT5 phosphorylation, leading to the induction of IL-13 and cell proliferation. However, TSLP does not induce STAT5 phosphorylation in airway smooth muscle; rather, it induces STAT3 phosphorylation and activates the MAPK (ERK1/2, p38, and JNK) signaling pathways (Shan et al., 2010). In eosinophils, TSLPR signaling involves the ERK, p38, and NFkB signaling pathways, but not STAT3 or STAT5 (Wong et al., 2010).

It is important to note that there are TSLP may have dual immunoregulatory roles and that the two different isoforms of TSLP act on different signaling pathways. In a mouse model of house dust mite allergen challenge the short form of TSLP and 1α ,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 were administered 1 h before dust mite exposure. After 8 weeks, animal lung function tests and pathological staining were performed to evaluate asthma progression. It was found that house dust mite and long form of TSLP diminished barrier function while treatment with the short form of TSLP and 1α ,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 prevented dust mite-induced airway epithelial barrier disruption. Moreover, the short form of TSLP and 1α ,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 treatment improved house dust mite induced asthma in mice (Dong et al., 2016). In a chemical-induced asthma model, male BALB/c mice who were sensitized and challenged with toluene diisocyanate there was significantly increased inflammation and hyperresponsiveness of airway. This was inhibited by short TSLP treatment. Levels of mouse TSLP, high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), and receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) in airway epithelium and whole lung tissues were elevated in the toluene diisocyanate treated group compared with control mice, but decreased following short TSLP administration. Short form TSLP also inhibited STAT5(Y694) phosphorylation, whereas long form TSLP was elevated. This suggests that short TSLP prevents airway inflammation in a chemical-induced asthma model, which might be associated with the inhibitions of HMGB1-RAGE and long TSLP expression and STAT5(Y694) phosphorylation, while it is the long form of TSLP is primarily responsible for activation of T_h2 inflammatory pathways (Wang et al., 2017).

Cellular Targets of TSLP

TSLP is expressed predominantly by epithelial cells in the thymus, lung, skin, intestine, and tonsils, as well as by stromal cells and mast cells, but is not found in most hematopoietic cell types and endothelial cells and exerts its effects on a variety of different cell types (O'Byrne and Inman, 2003; Robinson, 2010; Simpson et al., 2002). In contrast, TSLPR has been found on DCs, T cells, B cells, mast cells, natural killer T (NKT) cells, and monocytes, as well as on tissues from heart, skeletal muscle, kidney, and liver (Humbert et al., 1999; Sheikh et al., 2003; Vignola et al., 1998). Recently, hematopoietic progenitors and nuocytes, a new type of innate effector leukocyte cells that mediate type-2 immune response, have been shown to respond to TSLP (Allakhverdi et al., 2009; Saenz et al., 2010b; Siracusa et al., 2011).



Figure 3. Cellular targets of epithelial-derived TSLP. Allergens, viruses, pro- inflammatory cytokines (TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-4) chemokines (CCL17; TARC), and bacterial components such as peptidoglycan, lipoproteins, lipoteichoic acid, LPS are all capable of inducing TSLP production from airway epithelial cells. Subsequently, epithelial-derived TSLP can act on cells of multiple lineages, inducing proliferation and differentiation as well as cytokine production (adapted from (Rochman and Leonard, 2008))

Dendritic Cells

DCs are widely considered to be the major antigen presenting cell type in immune responses with the ability to initiate and direct immune responses. mDCs have been shown to have the highest expression of TSLPR, which is consistent with the ability of mDCs to respond to TSLP

(Reche et al., 2001; Soumelis et al., 2002). TSLP-activated mDCs have also been reported to produce high levels of CXCL8 and eotaxin-2, chemokines that attract neutrophils and eosinophils, in addition to producing thymus and activation regulated chemokine (TARC; CCL17) and macrophage- derived chemokine (MDC; CCL22), which functions to attract T_h2 -polarized cells (Soumelis et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2005). Furthermore, epithelial-derived TSLP enhances the maturation of mDCs by inducing expression of MHC II along with co-stimulatory molecules (CD54, CD80, CD83, and CD86) (Soumelis et al., 2002). TSLP-activation of mDCs results in the upregulation of OX40 ligand (OX40L) expression, which leads to the induction of pro-allergic inflammatory responses by triggering naïve CD4+ T cells to differentiate into inflammatory T_h2 cells that produce allergy-promoting T_h2 cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, as well as (uniquely) TNF-α, but not IL-10 (Ito et al., 2005; Reche et al., 2001; Soumelis et al., 2002).

Gene expression analyses of TSLP-activated human mDCs shows that TLSP alone strongly induces TNF superfamily protein OX40L, which is critical for the induction of inflammatory T_h2 cells, since blocking OX40L with a neutralizing antibody inhibits the production of T_h2 cytokines and TNF- α , and enhances the production of IL-10 by CD4+ T cells. Consistent with this finding, Liu et al. observed that treatment of naïve CD4+ T cells with recombinant OX40L promoted the production of TNF- α , while inhibiting the production of IL-10 (Ito et al., 2005; Liu, 2007). Moreover, *in vivo*, TLSP-induced T_h2 immune responses in the lung and skin were inhibited by treating mice with OX40L- blocking antibodies (Seshasayee et al., 2007). Of interest, unlike other stimuli that activate DCs, such as CD40 ligand and TLR ligands (polyI:C and bacterial LPS), TSLP-activated DCs do not produce the T_h1 -polarizing cytokine IL-12 (Ito et al., 2005; Soumelis et al., 2002). In the presence of IL-12, both TSLP-activated mDCs and OX40L lose its ability to induce inflammatory T_h2 differentiation (Ito et al., 2005). To date, TSLP is the only factor that activates mDCs without the induction of IL-12 and other T_h1 -polarizing cytokines. The molecular mechanism(s) by which TSLP activates mDCs without producing Th1-polarizing signals remains unclear. However, the dominance of IL-12 over OX40L may provide a molecular explanation for the —hygiene hypothesis, which proposes that bacterial and viral infections elicit a T_h1 -mediated immune response, which down-regulates the development of T_h2 -driven atopy. For these reasons, it can be suggested that TSLP plays a major role in classic T_h2 diseases such as allergic asthma. The activation of DCs by TSLP consequently provides a permissive condition for T_h2 development by upregulating the T_h2 polarizing signal (OX40L), without inducing the T_h1 -polarizing signal (IL-12).

In addition to its differentiating effects on naïve CD4+ T cells, TSLP-activated mDCs have the capacity to robustly activate and expand naïve CD8+ T cells, in addition to inducing them to differentiation into pro-allergic IL-5 and IL-13 producing cytolytic T cells , which have been shown to induce eosinophilia and increased IgE production in AD, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Akdis et al., 1999; Gilliet et al., 2003). Moreover, TSLP-activated mDCs potently expand T_h2 memory cells, without altering their central memory phenotype and Th2 commitment (Wang et al., 2006). Lastly, TSLP has been shown to induce differentiation of CD4+CD8-CD25- naïve thymocytes into Foxp3+ T regulatory cells (Tregs) in a DC-dependent manner (Watanabe et al., 2005). As such, via mDCs, TSLP has the ability to regulate both the innate and adaptive phase of the allergic immune response by: (1) recruiting neutrophils and eosinophils through production of CXCL8 and CCL24, respectively; (2) preparing the local adaptive immune response by recruiting Th2 cells, through CCL17 and CCL22; and, (3) inducing the differentiation of naïve CD4+ and CD8+ T cells into inflammatory T_h2 cells and cytolytic T cells.



Figure 4. Pathophysiology of TSLP in allergic inflammation. Insult from allergens or viruses trigger epithelial cells to produce TSLP, which then activates immature DCs. TSLP- activated DCs express OX40L, which triggers naïve CD4+ T cells (T_h0) to differentiate into inflammatory Th2 cells that produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, and TNF α . Furthermore, TSLP- activated DCs produce TARC, which functions to attract helper T cells that are Th2 polarized. These differentiated Th2 cells release a profile of inflammatory cytokine, thus, initiating allergic inflammation (adapted from (Liu, 2006)).



Figure 5. Regulation of T_h1 and T_h2 differentiation. The T_h1 -polarizing signal (IL-12) is dominant over the T_h2 -polarizing signal (OX40L); therefore, T_h2 differentiation will only occur in the presence of OX40L and in the absence of IL-12 (adapted from (Liu, 2006)).

T-cells

Although the effects of TSLP on T cells are mainly mediated by mDCs, recent studies suggest that both murine and human TSLP can directly activate CD4+ T cells, independent of mDCs. Murine TSLP appears to preferentially expand CD4+ T cells, as the addition of TSLP enhances the proliferative capacity of CD4+ T cells pre-activated through T-cell receptor stimulation. Furthermore, TSLP-treatment of murine CD4+ T cells results in IL-4 expression (Omori and Ziegler, 2007). Studies using TSLPR-deficient mice have shown that TSLPR expression by CD4+ T cells is critical for TSLP-mediated CD4+ T cell expansion and T_h2 differentiation *in vivo* (Al-Shami et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2005). In humans, Rochman et al. demonstrated that following anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 stimulation, CD4+ T cells upregulate TSLPR expression and become responsive to TSLP, resulting in STAT5 activation and enhanced sensitivity of pre-activated CD4+ T cells to IL-2 (Rochman et al., 2007). In addition to CD4+ T cells, both murine and human CD8+ T cells express the TSLPR complex. In vitro, TSLP-activated CD8+ T cells induce STAT5 and Akt activation and Bcl2 expression, which only increases survival without altering homeostatic proliferation of CD8+ T cells (Rochman and Leonard, 2008b). Activated pulmonary Tregs have also been reported to express TSLPR and respond to TSLP-mediated activation of STAT5 (Nguyen et al., 2010). TSLP-treated Tregs demonstrate impaired IL-10 production and diminished suppressive activity, which is consistent with studies that report decreased frequency and diminished suppressive activity of pulmonary Tregs in allergic asthmatics, compared to healthy controls and non-allergic asthmatics (Hartl et al., 2007; Nguyen et al., 2010). Furthermore, Nagata et al. reported on the ability of murine TSLP to activate NKT cells to preferentially produce IL-13, but not IFN γ and IL-4. Using a murine allergen-induced asthma model they demonstrated AHR in TSLP transgenic mice was almost eliminated completely in the absence of NKT cells. Furthermore, in the same asthma model, TSLP transgenic mice lacking NKT cells had significant reduction in IL-13(Nagata et al., 2007). Collectively, these findings highlight a unique role for TSLP in regulating the adaptive immune response.

Eosinophils, Basophils, and Mast cells

Following allergen challenge in patients with allergic asthma, there is a significant recruitment of hematopoietic progenitor cells to the airways. These cells express receptors for TSLP and IL-33. TSLP acts on eosinophils stimulating the release of IL-6, CXCL8, CXCL1, and CCL2. TSLP also triggers the up-regulation of the surface adhesion molecules CD18 and intracellular adhesion molecule-1 which indicates that TSLP may stimulate the recruitment of eosinophils to sites of inflammation. In addition, TSLP has been shown to increase the viability and survival of eosinophils and promote the release of eosinophil-derived neurotoxin, a protein

biomarker elevated in asthma patients (Cook et al., 2012; Kim, 2013; Wong et al., 2010). Mast cells found in asthmatic bronchial mucosa have been shown to express functional TSLP receptors. Potent activation of mast cells by TSLP has been reported in the presence of IL-1 β and TNF- α by *Allakhverdi et al.* triggering the production of high levels of IL-5, IL-13, IL-6, GM-CSF, as well as chemokines associated with allergic diseases. Moreover, blocking native TSLP released in primary human SAEC greatly attenuated the production of IL-13 by mast cells (Allakhverdi et al., 2007a).

TSLP has also been shown to control basophil responses in mice. Murine basophils stimulated with TSLP show distinct characteristics, including high levels of IL-33R expression. Human basophils obtained from sites of inflammation have been shown to have significantly higher levels of IL-33R expression, indicating that TSLP may also induce basophil activation in allergic individuals (Siracusa et al., 2011). In an allergen inhalation model, allergic challenge increased basophil numbers in the airways and significantly upregulated the expression of activation markers, T_h2 intracellular cytokines, and receptors for TSLP, IL-3, and eotaxin in blood, bone marrow, and sputum basophils. Stimulation with TSLP *in vitro* primed basophil migration to eotaxin and induced basophil activation. IN that investigation basophils responded to TSLP at a magnitude and potency comparable to the well-described basophil-activating stimuli IL-3 and anti-IgE. These findings indicate that basophil activation during early- and late-phase responses to inhaled allergen might be driven at least in part by TSLP (Salter et al., 2015). Together, these studies support a role for TSLP in facilitating cross talk between epithelial cells and effector cells (mast cells, eosinophils, and basophils) of allergic inflammation.

Hematopoietic Progenitors

Hematopoietic progenitors are pluripotent stem cells with the ability to differentiate into all blood cellular types and a capacity for self-renewal. Hematopoietic progenitors are primarily identified by surface expression of the stage-specific antigen, CD34 (Szilvassy and Hoffman, 1995). Hemopoietic progenitors give rise to mature eosinophils, basophils and mast cells, effector cells of allergic diseases. Recently, Allakhverdi *et al.* reported that human CD34+ cells express receptors for TSLP and IL-33, which supports their finding that TSLP can potently activate human CD34+ progenitors. In the presence of IL-33, TSLP directly activates CD34+ progenitors, leading to the release of high levels of pro-inflammatory T_h2-like cytokines and chemokines that are involved in allergic diseases (Allakhverdi et al., 2007b). Similar to its effects on mast cells, blocking endogenous TSLP that was released by primary human SAEC completely inhibited production of IL-5 by CD34+ progenitors (Allakhverdi et al., 2009).

Hui et al. demonstrated a direct role for TSLP in eosinophil-basophil differentiation from human peripheral blood CD34+ progenitor cells. In the presence of IL-3, TSLP significantly promoted the formation of eosinophil and basophil colony forming units (CFU) TSLP–TSLPR interaction dependent manner. IL-3/TSLP-stimulated progenitors actively secreted an array of cytokines/chemokines, key among which was TNF α , which, together with IL-3, enhanced surface expression of TSLPR. In progenitots isolated from atopic individuals, the stimulated cells were functionally and phenotypically more responsive to TSLP than those from non-atopic individuals. This suggests that hematopoiesis can be enhanced through TSLP and may be a major driver for TSLP-driven allergic inflammation initiated at the epithelial surface.

Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells

ILCs are a newly characterized population of innate immune effector cells. Although they have

lymphoid morphology and secrete what have been regarded as mediators characteristic of lymphocytes, they have no recombinase-dependent B or T cell receptors nor do they express myeloid or lymphoid cell-surface markers. ILC2s, part of a larger family of ILCs expressing the ST2, IL-17RB and CD127 cell surface antigens, in a recently discovered group of innate immune cells are found in the gut and airway mucosa of mice and humans. These ILC2 have the capacity to produce T_h2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13, suggesting functional similarities between ILC2 and T_h2 cells (Aron and Akbari, 2017; Kumar et al., 2014). Mjosberg *et al.* recently demonstrated the expression of TSLP receptor on human ILC2s found in nasal polyps of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis. They also demonstrated STAT5 activation and increased GATA3 expression in ILC2s following stimulation by nasal polyp epithelial-derived TSLP. Despite these similarities between ILC2 and T_h2 cells, unlike T_h2 cells, ILC2 are able to respond to TSLP with production of T_h2 cytokines without prior activation, a response that is augmented by IL-33 (Mjösberg et al., 2011). Additionally, stimulation with IL-25, IL-33, and TSLP was demostrated to drive the growth of ILC2s isolated from peripheral blood cells of healthy donors. ILC2s may comprise an additional cell population providing an early source of T_h2 cytokines, capable of initiating T_h2 allergic inflammation. The ability of ILC2s to respond to epithelial cell-derived cytokines (i.e. TSLP, IL-33, and IL-25) suggests that these cells may interact closely with the epithelium (Vannella et al., 2016).

TSLP in Allergic Diseases

Recent studies show that TSLP plays a pivotal role in allergic diseases. In AD, TSLP is highly expressed by keratinocytes in acute and chronic skin lesions (Soumelis et al., 2002). Furthermore, serum TSLP levels in children with AD are significantly higher than normal controls (Lee et al., 2010). The first evidence for a link between TSLP and human asthma was provided by

34

Ying et al. Through in situ hybridization they demonstrated elevated levels of TSLP mRNA expressing cells, which correlated with disease severity, within the bronchial epithelium submucosa in asthmatics (Ying et al., 2005). Elevated levels of TSLP are also found in the airway epithelium and BALF of asthmatic individuals (Nguyen et al., 2010; Shikotra et al., 2012; Ying et al., 2008). Over-expression of TSLP in airway epithelial cells induces allergic airway inflammation in mice (Zhou et al., 2005). Furthermore, there is over-expression of TSLP in the nasal epithelial cells of patients with AR and nasal polyposis (Kimura et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2011). Recently, several GWAS have identified TSLP as a locus associated with asthma and allergic disease susceptibility (Moffatt et al., 2010; Rothenberg et al., 2010). SNPs in TSLP have reported to be associated with several clinical outcomes and phenotypes of allergic diseases such as AR, total IgE and AHR (Bunyavanich et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2010; Harada et al., 2009, 2011; He et al., 2009; Hunninghake et al., 2008, 2010). In a recent clinical trial, a human TSLP mAb (AMG 157) was demonstrated to reduce both the early and LAR following an allergen challenge in mild atopic asthmatics. Moreover, AMG 157 was able to reduce markers of systemic and airway inflammation measured as fraction of exhaled nitric oxide, sputum eosinophil levels and circulating eosinophils, which further supports TSLP's role in persistent airway inflammation in asthmatics (Gauvreau et al., 2014). Evidence to date suggests a critical role for TSLP in the pathogenesis of T_h2-baised allergic diseases.

TSLP Polymorphisms

Susceptibility to allergic diseases is greatly influenced by gene-environment interactions (Herbert et al., 2017). In recent years, there has been a concerted effort to elucidate the genes and pathways related to asthma and other allergic disease through genetic analyses. Recent GWAS and meta-analyses of GWAS have detected numerous loci associated with asthma and related traits.

Large meta analyses such as the GABRIEL study and the EVE study identified SNPs in four loci (TSLP, IL-33, IL1RL1, 17q21 locus) that were associated with asthma (Moffatt et al., 2010; Torgerson et al., 2011). These findings highlighted the importance of epithelial-derived cytokines in determining the asthmatic phenotype. Regarding TSLP, in a recent GWAS of eosinophilic esophagitis (EoE), Rothenberg et al. identified the SNP rs3806932 in the TSLP gene to be significantly associated with EoE. They reported that subjects with EoE had elevated TSLP mRNA expression, which was significantly correlated with the rs3806932 genotype. EoE subjects who were homozygous for the protective minor allele expressed significantly less TSLP mRNA than those who were heterozygous and homozygous for the risk (ancestral) allele (Rothenberg et al., 2010).

Recent candidate gene and genome-wide association studies identified "protective" associations between the SNP rs1837253, found in the 5' promoter region of TSLP, with asthma, atopic asthma and airway hyper-responsiveness (He et al., 2009; Moffatt et al., 2010). The absence of linkage disequilibrium of rs1837253 with other SNPs in the region suggests that it is likely the causal polymorphism for the associations, and/or has functional consequences on TSLP expression. Other studies have reported that this same SNP, rs1837253, has reduced association with asthma in Costa Rican boys and reduced associations with allergic rhinitis in three independent cohorts for asthma (Bunyavanich et al., 2011; Hunninghake et al., 2010). The inverse association between rs1837253 and asthma suggests the possibility that this TSLP variant results in diminished secretion of TSLP, consequently, modifying the T_h2 inflammatory response. Hui et al. found that although atopic sensitization does not affect the secretion of TSLP from NECs, there was decreased TSLP secretion in NECs obtained from heterozygous (CT; 1.8-fold) and homozygous minor allele (TT; 2.5-fold) individuals, as compared with NECs from homozygous

major allele individuals (CC; P<0.05), after double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) stimulation (50 μ g ml⁻¹) (Hui et al., 2015). These results imply that the rs1837253 polymorphism may be directly involved in the regulation of TSLP secretion. This may help explain the protective association of this genetic variant with asthma and related traits. Identifying functional consequences of SNPs in genes with previously reported clinical associations is critical in understanding and targeting allergic inflammation.

Other candidate gene association studies have illustrated the significance of TSLP variants to the development of allergic disease phenotypes and TSLP expression. A functional SNP, rs3806933, has been identified in the regulatory element of the long form of TSLP (Hunninghake et al., 2008). This variant enhances the binding of AP-1, a transcription factor that is critical for TLR3-dependent cytokine expression, resulting in enhanced transcriptional efficiency of the long form of TSLP in response to dsRNA stimulation in primary BEC. This same SNP, rs3806933, was later reported to be associated with childhood atopic and adult asthma (Harada et al., 2011). Furthermore, in a sex-stratified genome wide linkage analyses, Hunninghake et al. found an SNP in TSLP, rs2289276, to be inversely associated with cockroach-specific IgE in Costa Rican girls and total IgE in Costa Rican girls with asthma (Hunninghake et al., 2008). Collectively, these genetic studies further highlight a critical role for TSLP in the pathogenesis of asthma and allergic diseases.

Research Study

Hypothesis

Given that the minor T allele of the rs1837253 SNP in the TSLP gene is associated with reduced risk of allergic asthma, and as there are no other SNPs in linkage disequilibrium with rs1837253, we hypothesize that individuals with the minor allele would have a decreased

propensity to induce a T_h2 inflammatory response related to an altered cytokine mediator profile, leading to protection from allergic asthma. We therefore evaluated the double-stranded RNA (dsRNA)-induced secretion of TSLP from primary nasal epithelial cells (NECs) from nonasthmatic and asthmatic individuals, examining associations among rs1837253 genotype, atopy, and T_h2 cytokine secretion.

Aims

Aim 1: Investigate differences in TSLP production between asthmatic patients and subjects possessing the protective minor T allele in TSLP gene SNP rs1837253.

Aim 2: Outline variances in phenotype between asthmatic populations and subjects possessing the protective minor T allele in TSLP gene SNP rs1837253 by investigating altered protein and gene expression of key immune proteins and immune receptors.

Aim 3: Investigate functional differences associated with SNP rs1837253 in order to suggest a mechanism by which the genotype exerts its intermediary effects in the process of asthma development.

Scientific Impact

The results of this study will provide insight how an individual's genetic makeup may lessen or worsen the development of asthma. It will also further our understanding of TSLP and its function within the context of allergic asthma and its effect on the hematopoietic milieu. Moreover, this investigation will help us better understand the complex gene-environment interactions and the methods of control that regulate the development of not only asthma but other allergic diseases as well.

38

CHAPTER 2: METHODS

Study subjects

Subjects were non-smoking men and women, aged 18 to 65 years of age. Asthmatic subjects with atopy, non-asthmatic subjects with atopy, and healthy controls all between 18 and 65 years of age were recruited to participate in the study. No subjects required medication for treatment of asthma or allergies. All asthmatic subjects with allergy were atopic with asthma and a methacholine $PC_{20} \leq 16$ mg/mL. Subjects were excluded if they had asthmatic exacerbations or respiratory tract infections within 4 weeks of the study start date or underlying diseases other than asthma. Participating subjects underwent a screening procedure to determine allergic status by skin prick test and lung function by spirometry. All subjects provided written informed consent. Subjects treated with nasal steroids, antihistamines and anti-leukotrienes unable to withdrawn these medications for 2 weeks before collection of nasal scrapings were excluded from the study. Sample size was based on power calculations based on observed differences in TSLP expression in work completed by *Hui et al.* The targeted sample size was 100 subjects, in order to obtain approximately 15 subjects possessing the homozygous minor alleles.

Isolation of genomic DNA and genotyping

The SNP rs1837253 in the TSLP gene was selected based on previous associations with asthma and related traits as well as the absence of significant linkage disequilibrium with any other SNP. DNA will be extracted from mouthwash samples using QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kits (Qiagen, Toronto, ON, Canada) according to the manufacturer's supplementary protocol for mouthwash samples. Genotyping was then be performed using a commercially available TaqMan genotyping assay for rs1837253 (Assay C_11910823_20, Life Technologies, Burlington, ON, Canada). The genotyping data was be verified for Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium by the X² test.

Nasal epithelial cell isolation and culture

Primary nasal epithelial cells (NECs) were derived from the inferior nasal turbinate using Rhino-Probe nasal curettes (Arlington Scientific, Springville, UT). NECs were expanded and cultured as previously described by Meuller *et al.* with some modification to the procedure (Müller et al., 2013b). NECs were maintained in bronchial epithelial growth medium (BEGM; Clonetics, Allendale, NJ) supplemented with SingleQuots (Clonetics). The SingleQuots comprise of 2 ml bovine pituitary extract (52 μ g ml⁻¹) and 0.5 ml each of insulin (μ g ml⁻¹), human epidermal growth factor (0.5 ng ml⁻¹), hydrocortisone (0.5 μ g ml-1), epinephrine (0.5 μ g ml⁻¹), transferrin (10 μ g ml-1), retinoic acid (0. ng ml⁻¹), triiodo-L-thyronine (6.5 ng ml⁻¹), and Gentamicin/Amphotericin-B (GA1000; μ g ml⁻¹). Collected cells were centrifuged and resuspended in BEGM with 10% 100x DNase 1 (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO; at room temperature for 20 min). Cells were washed twice and plated on 35 mm culture dishes (Corning Costar, Corning, NY), coated with Purecol (Inamed, Fremont, CA), and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO2. Media was changed 24h after plating; after which, media was replaced every second day until cells reach 80–90% confluency. In this study, second and third passaged cells were used.

Poly(I:C) stimulation

NEC were seeded onto 100mm dishes (Corning) and allowed to grow to 80–90% confluence. Thereafter, BEGM was replaced with bronchial epithelial basal media (Clonetics) and 1% fetal bovine serum (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) before experimental stimulation. NECs were treated with poly(I:C) (EMD Chemicals, Gibbstown, NJ) as indicated or vehicle control for 3h, 6h or 24 h at 37°C, 5% CO2.

RNA isolation and reverse transcription

RNA was extracted from a number of different human nasal epithelial samples using the RNeasy Mini-kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA in each sample was quantified using a NanoDrop Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher, Wilmington, DE). The RNA in each sample time point (0, 3, and 6h) from each participant was diluted based on the lowest concentration sample using RNase-free water. The samples were reverse-transcribed using the Quantitect Reverse Transcription kit with genomic DNA wipeout buffer (Qiagen) and complementary DNA were aliquoted and stored at -80°C.

Quantitative reverse transcription-PCR

The expression of TSLP was determined by quantitative reverse transcription- PCR using SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) with a MX4000 Stratagene detection system according to the manufacturer's instructions. The PrimePCR Human Reference Gene Panel (Bio-Rad) was used to determine glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and tyrosine 3-monooxygenase/tryptophan 5-mono-oxygenase activation protein, (YWHAZ) to be the optimal reference genes. The following primer set for quantitative reverse transcription-PCR was used: (NM_033035.4 and NM_138551.4), 50 – CTAAGGCTGCCTTAGCTATC-30 and 50–AAGCGACGCCACAATCCTTG-30 as previously described. PrimePCR SYBR green assay for Human GAPDH and YWHAZ were used for reference gene primers (Bio-Rad). All TSLP primer sets (Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA) were designed and evaluated as per the minimum information for publication of quantitative reverse transcription-PCR experiments (MIQE) guidelines. Pooled complementary DNA was used to optimize annealing temperature (found to be 60°C for all primer sets). Primer sets were previously verified by Hui and colleagues using 8-point standard curves to confirm

adequate amplification efficiency for each TSLP isoform primer sets and the GAPDH/YWHAZ reference genes using Sso Advanced SYBR green Supermix (Bio-Rad). Melt curves were used to verify expected single peak amplicons. The threshold cycle (Ct) is inversely correlated with the target mRNA expression level and was defined as the cycle number at which the reporter fluorescence emission exceeded the midpoint along the amplification curve. The standard $2^{-(\Delta\Delta Ct)}$ formula was used to calculate arbitrary TSLP mRNA concentrations. The level of TSLP mRNA was normalized to the level of GAPDH/YWHAZ mRNA.

Cytokine and Chemokine Secretion

TSLP, GM-CSF, IFNy, TNF- α , IL-8 and IL-5 were assessed using Bio-Plex assays (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) according to manufacturer's recommendation. The detection limits for these cytokines were TSLP (3.1 pg/mL), GMCSF (9.5pg/mL), IFNy (0.1 pg/mL), TNF- α (0.1 pg/mL), IL-8 (0.2 pg/mL) and IL-5 (0.1 pg/mL).

Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometric analysis of type 2 cytokine and toll-like receptors was conducted using mononuclear cells (which contains lymphocytes including T cells, B cells, NK cells as well as monocytes) isolated from donated peripheral blood using LymphoprepTM density gradient medium. Peripheral blood was centrifuged at 1500rpm for 20 minutes. Mononuclear cell fraction was isolated using a bulb pipette. Four-color immunofluorescent staining was performed. The mononuclear cells were resuspended in 1 mL of FACS buffer (PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide) and placed in aliquots in individual tubes at a concentration of 1 3 105 cells per tube. Cells were resuspended in murine block (PBS containing 0.2% sodium azide, 2.5% murine serum, and 2.5% human serum) and incubated in the refrigerator for 30 minutes. Optimal amounts (1uL) of PerCP, FITC, or PE-labeled anti–TSLPRa, IL-3Ra, IL-5Ra, IL-13a, IL-17RBa, ST2a, GM-CSFRa, TLR-

2, TLR-4, or their respective isotype controls were added to the tubes, and incubated for 30 minutes in the refrigerator. Cells were then washed with FACS buffer and fixed in 250 mL of 1% paraformaldehyde. Compensation tubes were likewise prepared, staining cells individually with anti-CD45–fluorescein isothiocyanate, anti-CD45–PE, anti-CD45–allophycocyanin, and anti-CD45–PerCP. For intracellular analysis of TLR-9, IL-5, and GMCSF cells were resuspended in a fixing solution (Caltag Laboratories, Carlsbad, Calif) for 20 minutes at room temperature, washed with FACS buffer, and resuspended in permeabilization buffer (Caltag Laboratories). Antibodies for anti-human TLR-9, IL-5, and GMCSF and rat isotype control were added to the permeabilization solution and incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed and resuspended in 250 mL of 1% paraformaldehyde. All samples were covered with aluminum foil and refrigerated until ready for acquisition. Acquisition was performed with an LSR II flow cytometer (BD Bioscience) and data analysis was conducted using Flow Jo software (Tree Star, Inc, Ashland, Ore).

Statistical Analysis

Data presented within the text, figures and figure legends are presented as mean \pm SEM. Data analysis was completed using Graphpad Prism 5.0 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA) software to perform students, t-test and ANOVAs. Post-hoc analyses for between groups comparisons were performed using Tukey's multiple comparisons test for One-Way ANOVA and Bonferroni's test for Two-Way ANOVAs. Type 1 error probability (α) was set at 0.05.

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

Subject Characteristics

This study was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board and all subjects provided written informed consent. From December 1st 2015, to June 1st 2017, 45 subjects have been enrolled to participate in the study. Of the 45 enrolled, 14 are atopic asthmatic and 1 is non-atopic asthmatic and 30 are non-asthmatic (methacholine challenge results were negative). There were 23 atopic non-asthmatics and 7 subjects were non-atopic non-asthmatic (Table 2). The homozygous minor T allele (TT) was found in 8 of the subjects, 18 subjects possessed the homozygous major C alleles (CC) and 19 subjects were heterozygous (CT) for both forms of the allele (Figure 1).

Gene expression differs in a genotype-dependent manner following PolyI:C stimulation

Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) has been previously reported to induce TSLP production (messenger RNA (mRNA) or protein) in human airway epithelial cells. There have been reported differences in the immune response between the BEC of healthy and asthmatic individuals, with enhanced TSLP secretion in BEC from asthmatics compared to their healthy counterparts following viral exposure. The higher capacity of asthmatic BEC to sense and respond to viral infections and thus, to release elevated levels of TSLP was reported to be due, in part, to increased expression of the retinoic acid-inducible gene 1 (RIG-1) in asthmatic airway epithelial cells following viral infections. A recent study found that TNF- α upregulates TSLP mRNA and induces high levels of TSLP protein release in primary human airway smooth muscle cells. TNF- α a induced the TSLP promoter activity which was activator protein-1 (AP-1) binding sites (Redhu et al., 2011). To investigate whether primary cultured nasal epithelial cells behave in a similar manner, mRNA expression of RIG-1 and AP-1 was detected following PolyI:C (25µgmL⁻¹)

stimulation for 0, 3, and 6 hours. The expression of the common isoform of TSLP was elevated in a time dependent manner following polyI:C (25µg/mL) stimulation for 3h (p<0.01) and 6h (p<0.001) compared to the unstimulated control (figure 2a). This time dependent increase in expression was found in the long form (figure 2b) but only at the 6h time point for the short form of TSLP (figure 2c). RIG-1 expression was also elevated in a time dependent manner following polyI:C (25µg/mL) stimulation for 3h (p<0.001) and 6h (p<0.001)(figure 2d). AP-1 expression was reduced in a time dependent manner following polyI:C (25µg/mL) stimulation for 6h (p<0.05)(figure 2e). When comparing the gene expression of key regulatory proteins across different genotypes. The common isoform of TSLP was significantly increased at the 6h time point across genotypes (figure 3a), where the homozygous major and heterozygous major alleles were higher compared the homozygous minor alleles. When stratified according to the short and long isoforms, the long isoform was elevated for subjects possessing the homozygous major allele and heterozygous alleles compared to the homozygous minor after 6h of polyI:C stimulation (figure 3b-c). The short isoform was not differentially expressed according to genotype however (figure 3b). RIG-1 and AP-1 expression did not change significantly between genotypes (figure 3d-e) at any time point. When comparing the gene expression of key regulatory proteins in atopic and nonatopic individuals no associations were found in the common isoform, the long and the short isoform of TSLP (figure 4a-c), RIG-1 (figure 4d) and AP-1 (figure 4e).

Using a two-way ANOVA and a Bonferroni post test the contribution of asthmatic status to differences in shared isoform TSLP expression was found to be significantly different. The contribution of genotype was not significant (p = 0.0853). When comparing the gene expression of the long and short isoform of TSLP in asthmatic individuals, expression was not found to be significantly different in the asthmatics groups or when stratified by those carrying the major (C)

and minor (T) allele (figure 9a-c). Interaction between asthma and genotype was found to be non-significant.

TSLP protein expression in subjects stratified by rs1837253 genotype following 24h stimulation with polyI:C is significantly different.

Nasal epithelial cell cultures were stimulated with 25μ g/mL polyI:C for 24h and subsequent differences in the protein levels from isolated supernatant were analyzed using a multiplex cytokine and chemokine assay. TSLP significantly elevated protein levels in individuals with the homozygous major allele compared to those possessing the homozygous minor allele (figure 5a) (p<0.05). No differences were identified in the expression of IL-8, IL-5, GMCSF, INFy and TNF- α (figure 5b-f) when stratified by genotype. Only TSLP had significantly elevated protein levels in asthmatic individuals (figure 6a). No differences were identified in the expression of IL-8, IL-5, GMCSF, INF-y and TNF- α (figure 6b-f). (p<0.05)

Cell surface protein expression in asthmatic individuals shows no differences compared to non-asthmatic subjects

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stained with antibodies specific to several key immune cytokine receptors and intracellular immune proteins (TLR-2, IL-5 receptor, intracellular GMCSF, IL-3 receptor, intracellular IL-13, GMCSF receptor, IL-17 receptor B, TSLP receptor, TLR-9, ST2 receptor & intracellular IL-5). No significant differences were found among any targets in the panel (figure 7 a-1) when the mean fluorescent intensity was compared in subjects with allergic asthma to those without asthma. No significant differences were found among any targets in the panel (figure 8 a-1) when the mean fluorescent intensity was compared across different genotypes of rs1837253.

Figures:

Table 2: Subject Characteristics

Characteristics	Asthmatic	Non-Asthmatic
Sample Size, n	15	30
Sex, male:female	7:8	16:14
Age, years (mean)	39	29.2
Atopy, n	14	23
Ethnicity		
Asian	2	7
Caucasian	10	13
Other	3	10
Genotype		
Homozygous major (CC)	7	12
Heterozygous (CT)	7	11
Homozygous minor (TT)	1	7



Dual Scatter Plot for rs1837253

Figure 1: Allele Discrimination Dual Scatter Plot for rs187253 using Taqman Probes. Fluorescence for two dyes (Hex and FAM) assigned to the same wells is demonstrated in the above plot using the Mx3000PTM Real-Time PCR System. Each point represents the coordinates of the fluorescence or Ct for the two dyes in a single well. Sample wells are grouped according to the amplification events indicated by either dye (i.e. homozygous for one of two alleles) or by both dyes (i.e. heterozygous for the two alleles).



Figure 2: Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) induces thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), RIG-1 and inhibits AP-1 gene expression in human primary nasal epithelial cells (NECs). Gene expression kinetics of the (a) common TSLP isoform (b) long TSLP isoform (c) short TSLP isoform (d) RIG-1 (e) AP-1 in polyI:C (25 mg mL^{-1}) stimulated NECs (n = 40). Results shown are expressed as fold change in the mRNA level in polyI:C-stimulated NECs at 3 and 6 h relative to the level in unstimulated NECs (0 h). One-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test was used to assess differences between groups. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001)



Figure 3: Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) induces the expression of the long isoform of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) differently according to genotype of SNP rs1837253. Gene expression kinetics of the (a) common TSLP isoform (b) long TSLP isoform (c) short TSLP isoform (d) RIG-1 (e) AP-1 in polyI:C (25 mg mL⁻¹) stimulated NECs (n = 40). Results shown are expressed as fold change in the mRNA level in polyI:C-stimulated NECs at 3 and 6 h relative to the level in unstimulated NECs (0 h) and are stratified by genotype. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test was used to assess differences between groups (a indicates significant difference between homozygous major and homozygous minor allele groups, b indicates significant difference between heterozygous and homozygous minor allele groups; a, b indicates p<0.05).



Figure 4: Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C) does not alter the expression of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), RIG-1 or AP-1 differently according to atopic status. Gene expression kinetics of the (a) common TSLP isoform (b) long TSLP isoform (c) short TSLP isoform (d) RIG-1 (e) AP-1 in polyI:C (25 mg mL^{-1}) stimulated NECs (n = 40). Results shown are expressed as fold change in the mRNA level in polyI:C-stimulated NECs at 3 and 6 h relative to the level in unstimulated NECs (0 h) and are stratified by genotype. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test was used to assess differences between groups. (*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001)



Figure 5: Relationship between TSLP rs1837253 genotype and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C)-induced secretion of (a) thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) (b) IL-5 (c) GM-CSF (d) INF- γ (e) IL-8 (f) TNF- α in nasal epithelial cells. Concentrations of secreted cytokine and chemokine protein in nasal epithelial cell culture supernatant from rs1837253 homozygous major allele (CC; n=17), heterozygous (CT; n=14), and homozygous minor allele (TT; n=7) individuals were measured using Biorad Bioplex assays following 24h stimulation with 25µg mL⁻¹ of polyI:C. One independent experiment was performed per subject. One-way ANOVA with Tukey's post test was used to assess differences between groups. (*p<0.05)



Figure 6: Relationship between asthmatic status and polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C)-induced secretion of (a) thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) (b) IL-5 (c) GM-CSF (d) INF-y (e) IL-8 (f) TNF- α in nasal epithelial cells. Concentrations of secreted cytokine and chemokine protein in nasal epithelial cell culture supernatant from asthmatic (n=13) and non-asthmatic (n=25) individuals were measured using Biorad Bioplex assays following 24h stimulation with 25µg mL-1 of polyI:C. One independent experiment was performed per subject. Students t-test was used to assess differences between groups. (*p<0.05)



Figure 7: Peripheral blood mononuclear cell surface and intracellular cytokine expression in asthmatics (n=15) and non-asthmatics (n=25) using flow cytometry. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stained with antibodies for cytokines (a) TLR-2 (b) IL-5 receptor (c) intracellular GMCSF (d) IL-3 receptor (e) intracellular IL-13 (f) GMCSF receptor (g) IL-17 receptor B (h)TSLP receptor (i) TLR-9 (k) ST-2 receptor (l) intracellular IL-5. Students t-test was used to assess differences between groups.



Figure 8: Peripheral blood mononuclear cell surface and intracellular cytokine expression according to TSLP rs1837253 genotype (CC=17), (CT=15), (TT=8) using flow cytometry. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stained with antibodies for cytokines (a) TLR-2 (b) IL-5 receptor (c) intracellular GMCSF (d) IL-3 receptor (e) intracellular IL-13 (f) GMCSF receptor (g) IL-17 receptor B (h)TSLP receptor (i) TLR-9 (k) ST2 receptor (l) intracellular IL-5. One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's post-test was used to assess differences between groups.


Figure 9: Relationship between genotype and asthmatic status in polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (polyI:C)-induced secretion of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP). Gene expression analysis comparing the common isoform, the short and the long isoform of TSLP using RT-qPCR given the presence (CT/TT) or absence of the minor T allele (CC) in asthmatic subjects compared to non-ashtmatic subjects. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-test was used to assess differences between groups. (*p<0.05).

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Recent evidence suggests that genetic polymorphisms in the TSLP pathway may play a major role in the development of allergic disease and asthma. Genetic polymorphisms influence disease traits which manifest through various intermediary biological or clinical phenotypes. Information on these transitional stages is limited at the moment. Hui et al recently showed an association between rs1837253 genotype and the ex vivo production of TSLP, a crucial cytokine for the induction of T_h2 inflammatory responses in nasal epithelial cells. No association was found between atopic status and TSLP secretion (Hui et al., 2015). However, within the clinical context, the functional role played by rs1837253 SNP in TSLP has not been previously detailed. In this study, our aim was to examine TSLP secretion from NECs in response to ex vivo stimulation and identify differences in asthmatic TSLP production to those possessing the protective alleles—which could shed insight into the underlying involvement of rs1837253 in the pathogenesis of asthma and allergic disease.

Gene expression analysis of nasal epithelial cell cultures following polyI:C stimulation

Consistent with previous studies on small airway epithelial cells, NECs, and BECs from healthy and asthmatic individuals the present results indicate that exposure to dsRNA *in vitro* induces a time-dependent expression of the common, short and long isoform of TSLP mRNA in NECs (Hui et al., 2015). In this study, dsRNA induced differential TSLP secretion in NECs obtained from non-asthmatics compared with asthmatic individuals. To identify a potential method of TSLP regulation we investigated the expression of a key transcription factor, retinoic acid-inducible gene 1 (RIG-1) involved in regulating the viral response. A recent study found that in conjunctival epithelial cells, TLR-3 activation through polyI:C stimulation elicits elevated RIG-1 expression. Elevated RIG-1 following viral infection may play a role in the higher capacity of

asthmatic BECs to sense and respond to viral infections and thus to secrete more TSLP. Furthermore, the role that is played in a TLR3 stimulated TSLP asthma model has not been explored. Whether these regulators affect one another's expression is an interesting question, however the present data do not indicate an association between RIG-1 and the rs1837253 genotype (figure 3); this suggests other mechanisms underlying its effect (Gleich, 2000).

Previous data demonstrate that the long form of TSLP is highly inducible by polyI:C in BECs. A functional SNP, rs3806933, has been identified in the regulatory region of the TSLP gene that enhances the binding of AP-1, a prominent transcription factor in airway diseases that regulates the expression of multiple inflammatory proteins. Furthermore, the rs3806933 SNP influences AP-1-driven promoter activity of the long form of TSLP in BECs. AP-1 expression is enhanced in the asthmatic airway, consistent with reports that SNP rs3806933 is associated with adult asthma and childhood atopic asthma. Interestingly in our dataset, following polyI:C stimulation AP-1 expression was reduced (figure 2). To better understand this, other downstream regulatory factors need to be examined.

The central question addressed in this study is whether there is a difference among TSLP genetic polymorphisms on secretion of poly I:C-induced TSLP by asthmatic- vs. non-asthmaticderived NEC. We addressed this by comparing non-asthmatic with asthmatic subjects possessing the different alleles of rs1837253 SNP. Due to the lower prevalence of the heterozygous minor allele within the population, we combined the heterozygous (CT) and homozygous (TT) minor allele data into one group, and then compared TSLP secretion ex vivo to the homozygous major (CC) allele group. Using two-way ANOVA, we analyzed the contribution of zygosity/genotype to the amount of TLSP secreted by asthmatic and non-asthmatic NEC (figure 9). Following polyI:C stimulation asthmatics secreted more TSLP protein, regardless of genotype, though considerably less when comparing CT/TT to CC. There was a strong trend (p=0.0853) showing a difference in TSLP secretion by asthmatic vs. non-asthmatic status for subjects with the minor allele (CT/TT), compared with the difference between asthmatics and non-asthmatics who possess the major allele (CC), however due to the lower prevalence of the minor alleles in the asthmatic population it would be warranted to increase our sample size and power to further investigate this trend.

Interestingly, TSLP protein expression was elevated regardless of genotype, suggesting other driving factors linking TSLP expression and the development of asthma. These results do not preclude the validity of GWAS findings which indicate a protective effect for those carrying the minor (T) allele. Our findings indicate that there may still be a benefit through the reduction in total TSLP expression, yet it does put into question the degree of influence that TSLP rs1837253 genotype has on asthma development. Our results also disagreed with cis-eQTL analyses of 34 asthma genes performed by *Li et al.* in cells from human bronchial epithelial biopsy (BEC, n = 107) and from bronchial alveolar lavage. In both bronchial epithelial cells biopsies and bronchial alveolar lavage from both asthmatic and non-asthmatic subjects the group found no differences in TSLP expression according to rs1837253 genotype (Li et al., 2015). Conversely, GSDMB expression based on an ORMDL3 SNP was significantly correlated in bronchial epithelial cells and cells derived from bronchial alveolar lavage. Li et al. also found multiple SNPs (including rs3806932, rs3806933, and rs2289276) in the TSLP-WDR36 region which were significantly correlated with the expression levels of TSLP (Li et al., 2015). Our study, in contrast, did show differences in nasal epithelial production of TSLP according to rs1837253 genotype, which highlights that the nasal airways contribute to the development in asthma as well through modulation of cytokine expression (figure 3). It should also be noted that *Li et al.* did not use a dsRNA virally induced model which may also suggest that there may be differences in the regulatory mechanism that this SNP impacts, contributing to an altered viral response pathway.

Genome-wide expression analysis of baseline and rhinovirus-infected BECs from normal and asthmatic donors have identified a unique transcriptomic pattern at baseline and during rhinovirus infection (Bochkov et al., 2010). Complementing these genome-based observations, analysis of asthmatic BECs have also identified dysregulated innate immune responses and abnormal repair mechanisms that stimulate airway remodeling, both of which are considered critical drivers of the asthmatic phenotype (Freishtat et al., 2011). In characterizing the contribution of genetic components of allergic disease one may be able to better delineate the reason for the variety of phenotypes and endotypes typified by diseases such as asthma. Through patient categorization based on observable clinical characteristics, it may be easier to link the underlying molecular mechanisms of asthma to the present endotype. To date, primarily two endotypes of asthma are described, T_h2 -high and T_h2 -low. Patients with T_h2 -high asthma have increased eosinophils in their sputum and airways, whereas T_h2 -low asthma patients have either an increase in neutrophils or a paucigranulocytic (minimal inflammatory cells) profile in their sputum and airways. TSLP contributes to the T_h2 -high endotype.

Further elucidation into rs1837253 involve understanding differences in function between the long and short form of TSLP. In a recent investigation by Wang et al. explored the differential roles of the TSLP isoforms performed in mice airway epithelium and human lung tissue. Results suggest that short TSLP prevents airway inflammation in a chemical-induced asthma model through the inhibitions of HMGB1-RAGE and long TSLP expression as well as through inhibition of STAT5(Y694) phosphorylation. In contrast, long TSLP is thought to be the pro-inflammatory agent. In this study, solely the long form seemed to have increased expression with presence of the CC alleles of rs1837253. We subcategorized our subjects into an asthmatic group to identify the strength of the contribution of genotype to asthma when compared to non-asthmatic individuals. In our present study, we found significant differences between our asthmatic and non-asthmatic subgroup. A trend was found associating genotypic contribution to shared isoform TSLP expression, however our sample size was still small. When the protective short isoform and T_h2 driving long isoform were assessed no significant differences were found in expression. Due to the differential roles of the long and short form of TSLP it will be necessary to investigate the outcome of this increase in total TSLP expression as differences may have been undetected due to low power in our present study design, and thus further investigation would be merited. Finally, the question of whether this genotype contributes to asthma in a genotype dependent manner was assessed. No interaction was found however in our analysis putting into question the role that rs1837253 plays in asthma.

Protein expression levels derived from supernatants of polyI:C stimulated nasal epithelial cells.

The epithelial master regulators of allergic inflammation IL-33, IL-25, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TLSP) stimulate the innate or adaptive immune system to secrete cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 (T_h2 cytokines). The accumulation of these type 2 cytokines stimulates key inflammatory cells, such as eosinophils, mast cells, and basophils. Both IL-4 and IL-13, through the activation of the transcription factor GATA3, regulate T_h2 inflammation. IL-13 and IL-4 are both involved in activation of B-cell isotope switching to produce immunoglobulin E (IgE). IL-5 is central for eosinophilic development, survival, and chemotaxis. Innate lymphoid type 2 cells (ILC2) are also involved in the production of IL-5 and IL-13. Type 2 cytokines also contribute to mucous cell hyperplasia and fibrosis leading to airway remodeling (Tabatabaian et al., 2017).

Furthermore, higher numbers of eosinophil/basophil colony-forming units are observed in the blood of atopic asthmatics following allergen-inhalation challenge. It has been shown previously that mature basophils and eosinophils synthesize cytokines important to allergic inflammation (Gauvreau et al., 1998). Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) is an important cytokine in the innate immune response that directly attacks tumor cells but has no toxic effect on normal cells, which incites an inflammatory response. Previous experiments have found that TNF- α plays a critical regulatory function in activating the airway inflammation associated with asthma. Likewise, anti-TNF- α therapy has had some success, although limited due to side effects as a biologic used to treat asthma. Very similar to TNF- α , interleukin-8 (IL-8) is an anti-inflammatory cytokine which has a regulatory effect on the airway inflammation caused by asthma (Jiang et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2016). To assess the potential role of growth factors and regulatory cytokines in allergic disease we examined the expression of the hematopoietic cytokines, GMCSF, IL-5, IL-8, and TNF- α to determine whether nasal epithelial cells are contributing to eosinophil or basophil formation or recruitment. In our analysis, we found no difference in protein expression of these key hematopoietic and regulatory molecules from NECs when comparing asthmatics to non-asthmatics and when comparing different genotypes of rs1837253 (figures 5,6). This suggests that the epithelium does not affect the differentiation of circulating progenitors through altered production of hematopoietic cytokines due to differences among rs1837253 alleles. In our analysis of TSLP we found differences in the time dependent expression of TSLP protein and the genotype dependent expression of TSLP protein (figures 5,6). This correlates with our transcript level findings. Our assay was not equipped to detect the different isoforms of TSLP, hence validation of gene expression results highlighting differences between the short and long form of TSLP remains an important question to be investigated.

Surface receptor expression levels derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells using flow cytometry.

Peripheral blood conditioned with TSLP skews the adaptive immune responses to a pathogenic and pro-allergic $T_h 2$ type. CD8+ T cells expanded by TSLP-conditioned DCs generate the hallmark $T_h 2$ cytokines IL-5 and IL-13. Danger signals produced by the epithelium and secreted toward underlying tissues alert many cell subsets to the presence of pathogens/allergens. Thus DCs are not the only population of innate immune cells that responds to TSLP, type 2 innate lymphoid cells also robustly upregulate $T_h 2$ cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 in response to TSLP alone or in synergy with other cytokines. Thus, to better understand whether altered secretion of TSLP changes a snapshot of the adaptive immune response, flow cytometric analysis on key peripheral blood mononuclear cell markers was performed.

Although levels of expression of toll-like receptors, cytokine receptors and intracellular cytokines were investigated using flow cytometry. No significant differences were found between asthmatic and non-asthmatic subjects or between subjects carrying different genotypes of rs1837253 (figure 7,8). We investigated a variety of peripheral blood mononuclear cell surface receptor markers and intracellular markers. This suggests rs1837253 acts local to the epithelium and does not alter circulating cell surface expression levels in the blood. The effects on circulating progenitors may be acute following viral infection. Thus, it may be necessary to stimulate the isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cell population with polyI:C to elicit an effect that may bring genotypic differences in immune regulation to the surface. When looking at airway remodelling genes, Wieczfinska and Pawliczak found a significant increase in the expression of TGF-β1 and arginase 1 on the mRNA and protein levels following viral stimulation. This effect was inhibited by apocynin, though only on the mRNA level. TIMP-1 expression was not

influenced by human rhinovirus; however, apocynin caused a significant increase of TIMP-1 mRNA expression. TSLP increased the expression of TGF-β1 and arginase 1 mRNA in fibroblasts, but not in peripheral blood mononuclear cells, thus it may have been necessary to introduce a viral insult in our experiments to observe a response *in vitro* (Wieczfinska and Pawliczak, 2017). Alternatively, a co-culture model exposing peripheral blood mononuclear cells to polyI:C treated airway cells may better simulate the *in vivo* environment and elicit any differences which are not native to the hematopoetic milieu of individuals with asthma (Horvath et al., 2011).

Conclusions

There is increasing evidence connecting TSLP polymorphisms to the development of asthma. Inverse associations between the T allele of rs1837253 and asthma have been previously reported. Hui et al recently showed an association between rs1837253 genotype and the ex vivo production of TSLP, a key cytokine for the provocation of T_h2 inflammatory responses in nasal epithelial cells. No association was found between atopic status and TSLP secretion (Hui et al., 2015). However, within the clinical context of asthma, the role played by rs1837253 SNP in TSLP has not been previously detailed. We demonstrated that asthmatic nasal epithelium produce more TSLP than controls. There was also a trend showing differential TSLP mRNA production by genotype in asthmatic subjects compared to controls. We also demonstrated increased time dependent expression of TSLP protein following polyI:C stimulation and an increase in TSLP secretion in asthmatic individuals irrespective of genotype. No differences were identified in the immune modulatory cytokine expression (GMCSF, IL-5, IL-8, and TNF- α) and no differences were found in cell surface receptor expression (TLR-2,4,9, GM-CSFR, IL-3R, IL-5R, & ST-2R) of our subjects. Thus, in nasal epithelial cells, we demonstrated that:

1) TSLP is over-expressed following TSLP expression in a time-dependent manner.

66

- The minor rs1837253-T allele was associated with decreased TSLP expression, for the long isoform but not the short isoform, consistent with an asthma-protective effect.
- 3) TSLP expression was higher in asthmatics regardless of genotype, however there was a trend showing a difference in TSLP secretion by asthmatic vs. non-asthmatic status for subjects with the minor allele (CT/TT), compared with the difference between asthmatics and non-asthmatics who possess the major allele (CC).
- There was no interaction between rs1837253 genotype and asthmatic status suggesting independent mechanisms driving TSLP associated asthma development.

Our study suggests that rs1837253 acts in an additive manner influencing TSLP production according to genotype contributing to the T_h2 biased phenotype in asthmatic nasal epithelial cells. This highlights the complexity of gene environment interactions in allergic disease and points to alternate directions for further investigation into the mechanism of control of TSLP secretion and the subsequent development of asthma and associated allergic diseases.

Limitations

Here we described the effects of dsRNA on NEC-derived TSLP production and associated levels of cytokine expression in asthmatic and non-asthmatic subjects. There were several limitations faced in the study design. Due to the low frequency of the minor alleles within the asthmatic subject population gathered in a limited time frame, differences in the phenotype of asthmatics carrying the most protective form of the rs1837253 polymorphism were characterized in a limited capacity as the study did not reach power. This limits the conclusions we can draw on the role of TSLP in asthma, yet still offers valuable insights into the degree to

67

which TSLP SNPs influence the expression of TSLP. It also offers insight into the circumstances under which these differences become apparent which may bear significant relevance in the clinical setting as it helps better define the root causes of disease and perhaps uncover a deeper understanding of the interplay between gene environment interactions.

Due to the ease of acquisition and manipulation of nasal epithelial cells, bronchial epithelial cells were not used. While the use of bronchial epithelial cells would offer a more accurate representation of the asthmatic disease model, using a smoking model Sridhar *et al.* showed that bronchial and nasal epithelium from non-smokers were most similar in gene expression when compared to other epithelial and non-epithelial tissues, with several antioxidant, detoxification, and structural genes being highly expressed in both the bronchus and nose (Sridhar *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore the link existing between the upper and lower airways has been observed repeatedly in the past bolstering the united airway concept airway (Bellanti and Settipane, 2014; Håkansson et al., 2015; Papadopoulou et al., 2014). This high degree of similarity and relatedness in asthma pathology makes the nasal epithelium the ideal surrogate for bronchial epithelial cells in our asthma model.

Future Directions

In our study, we demonstrated diminished TSLP secretion in NEC derived from individuals who are carriers of the protective rs1837253 T allele in an RIG-1 and AP-1 independent manner; however, the mechanism for reduced TSLP expression remains unclear. We also outlined that asthmatic nasal epithelium produces TSLP in different amounts. There was also a trend showing differential TSLP mRNA production by genotype in asthmatic subjects. There was no significant difference in the amount of TSLP expression by genotype in asthma compared to controls. Perhaps this indicates that other SNPs in the TSLP gene contributed to the enhanced TSLP phenotype and

that rs1837253 acts in an additive manner contributing to the T_h2 biased phenotype. Understanding the regulatory mechanisms of TSLP secretion is the next major hurdle.

TSLP has recently been shown to be a methylation-sensitive gene (Luo et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2013). The methylation status of TSLP was significantly associated with prenatal tobacco smoke exposure and was further associated with childhood AD. Moreover, TSLP 5'-CpG island methylation was inversely related with its downstream TSLP protein secretion (Wang et al., 2013). In a more recent study, Luo et al. reported DNA hypo-methylation of the TSLP promoter region, which was accompanied by overexpression of TSLP in skin lesions from patients with AD compared with controls (Luo et al., 2014). Further investigation into SNP rs1837253-associated epigenetic alterations in airway epithelial cells will be critical in understanding the mechanisms underlying the involvement of rs1837253 in regulating TSLP secretion. Furthermore, given that SNP rs1837253 showed the greatest association with asthma, continued research on the effects of rs1837253 genotype on TSLP secretion in different phenotypes of asthma, such as asthma severity, will help unravel the association. Although the antagonist of TSLP seems promising as a therapy for allergic airway inflammation (Gauvreau et al., 2014), reaching a greater understanding of the molecular pathogenesis of asthma and allergic diseases will eventually pave the way for novel therapies targeting the source of inflammation rather than life-long therapies aimed at dampening inflammation and easing symptoms.

Due to the similarity of immunological dysregulation between asthma and chronic rhinosinusitis/nasal polyposis, another interesting investigation would be to identify a common connection in altered TSLP expression in different TSLP gene polymorphisms. It was previously reported that epithelial cells derived from nasal polyps of patients with CRSwNP release TSLP and IL-25 when specifically stimulated by poly(I:C). Eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic CRSwNP

69

also have distinct epithelial endotypes regarding TSLP/TSLPR/IL-7Ra and ST2 expression (Liao et al., 2015).. The positive feedback loop between TSLP, IL-33 and their receptors, and T_h2 responses can facilitate T_h2 -skewed eosinophilic inflammation in CRSwNP. The authors found that the increased expression of IL-25 they observed in nasal polyp tissues of patients with CRSwNP correlated with worse computerized tomography scores and blood eosinophilia (Boita et al., 2016). Poly(I:C)-induces expression of TSLP in primary nasal epithelial cells from polyposis patients only and that a deregulation of the expression of the DUSP-1 transcription factor may play a role in this process. No other TLR agonists nor primary healthy epithelial cells show the induction of this T_h2 skewing mediator. Similar to the observations made in our present asthma study, perhaps investigation into rs1837253 in the context of CRSwNP may lead to observations that open up a way to explore the involvement of viral infections as a causative or contributing factor to the T_h2 -skewed inflammatory environment in polyps or to the pathogenesis of nasal polyposis (Golebski et al., 2016).

Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) may have dual immune-regulatory roles. In inflammatory disorders of the bowel, the long isoform of TSLP promotes inflammation while the short isoform inhibits inflammation (Dong et al., 2016). In our study our gene expression analysis was underpowered to detect differences in long and short form expression, however trends were evident of a bias towards long for expression in our genotype of interest. We were also unable to distinguish between the long and short form in our protein expression analysis. Delineating the precise effects of rs1837253 on the isoforms of TSLP is essential in outlining what functional implications stem from altered TSLP expression due to differences in genotype.

Allergic diseases are characterized by tissue eosinophilic and basophilic inflammation. There is substantial evidence that this particular inflammatory profile results from the migration

70

to tissues of a common eosinophil/basophil (Eo/B) progenitor which then undergoes a differentiative process regulated by local cytokines. Investigating effects on CD34+ differentiation through the use of ALI tissue culture inserts in a co-culture model to determine the effects on eosinophil and basophil colony formation. If asthmatics have an increased propensity for progenitor differentiation in the presence of nasal epithelium of asthmatics with the C allele, it may offer unique insight into the effects of TSLP on hematopoietic progenitor cells.

REFERENCES

Afshar, R., Medoff, B.D., and Luster, A.D. (2008). Allergic asthma: a tale of many T cells. Clin. Exp. Allergy *38*, 1847–1857.

Akdis, M., Simon, H.U., Weigl, L., Kreyden, O., Blaser, K., and Akdis, C.A. (1999). Skin homing (cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen-positive) CD8+ T cells respond to superantigen and contribute to eosinophilia and IgE production in atopic dermatitis. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *163*, 466–475.

Akhabir, L., and Sandford, A.J. (2011). Genome-wide association studies for discovery of genes involved in asthma. Respirol. Carlton Vic *16*, 396–406.

Alfvén, T., Braun-Fahrländer, C., Brunekreef, B., von Mutius, E., Riedler, J., Scheynius, A., van Hage, M., Wickman, M., Benz, M.R., Budde, J., et al. (2006). Allergic diseases and atopic sensitization in children related to farming and anthroposophic lifestyle--the PARSIFAL study. Allergy *61*, 414–421.

Ali, F.R., Oldfield, W.L.G., Higashi, N., Larché, M., and Kay, A.B. (2004). Late asthmatic reactions induced by inhalation of allergen-derived T cell peptides. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. *169*, 20–26.

Ali, F.R., Kay, A.B., and Larché, M. (2007). Airway hyperresponsiveness and bronchial mucosal inflammation in T cell peptide-induced asthmatic reactions in atopic subjects. Thorax *62*, 750–757.

Allakhverdi, Z., Comeau, M.R., Jessup, H.K., Yoon, B.-R.P., Brewer, A., Chartier, S., Paquette, N., Ziegler, S.F., Sarfati, M., and Delespesse, G. (2007a). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is released by human epithelial cells in response to microbes, trauma, or inflammation and potently activates mast cells. J. Exp. Med. *204*, 253–258.

Allakhverdi, Z., Smith, D.E., Comeau, M.R., and Delespesse, G. (2007b). Cutting edge: The ST2 ligand IL-33 potently activates and drives maturation of human mast cells. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *179*, 2051–2054.

Allakhverdi, Z., Comeau, M.R., Smith, D.E., Toy, D., Endam, L.M., Desrosiers, M., Liu, Y.-J., Howie, K.J., Denburg, J.A., Gauvreau, G.M., et al. (2009). CD34+ hemopoietic progenitor cells are potent effectors of allergic inflammation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *123*, 472–478.

Al-Shami, A., Spolski, R., Kelly, J., Fry, T., Schwartzberg, P.L., Pandey, A., Mackall, C.L., and Leonard, W.J. (2004). A role for thymic stromal lymphopoietin in CD4(+) T cell development. J. Exp. Med. *200*, 159–168.

Arima, K., Watanabe, N., Hanabuchi, S., Chang, M., Sun, S.-C., and Liu, Y.-J. (2010). Distinct signal codes generate dendritic cell functional plasticity. Sci. Signal. *3*, ra4.

Aron, J.L., and Akbari, O. (2017). Regulatory T cells and type 2 innate lymphoid cell-dependent asthma. Allergy.

Arshad, S.H., Tariq, S.M., Matthews, S., and Hakim, E. (2001). Sensitization to common allergens and its association with allergic disorders at age 4 years: a whole population birth cohort study. Pediatrics *108*, E33.

Averbeck, M., Gebhardt, C., Emmrich, F., Treudler, R., and Simon, J.C. (2007). Immunologic principles of allergic disease. J. Dtsch. Dermatol. Ges. J. Ger. Soc. Dermatol. JDDG *5*, 1015–1028.

Baldini, M., Lohman, I.C., Halonen, M., Erickson, R.P., Holt, P.G., and Martinez, F.D. (1999). A Polymorphism* in the 5' flanking region of the CD14 gene is associated with circulating soluble CD14 levels and with total serum immunoglobulin E. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *20*, 976–983.

Basehore, M.J., Howard, T.D., Lange, L.A., Moore, W.C., Hawkins, G.A., Marshik, P.L., Harkins, M.S., Meyers, D.A., and Bleecker, E.R. (2004). A comprehensive evaluation of IL4 variants in ethnically diverse populations: association of total serum IgE levels and asthma in white subjects. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *114*, 80–87.

Bateman, E.D., Hurd, S.S., Barnes, P.J., Bousquet, J., Drazen, J.M., FitzGerald, M., Gibson, P., Ohta, K., O'Byrne, P., Pedersen, S.E., et al. (2008). Global strategy for asthma management and prevention: GINA executive summary. Eur. Respir. J. *31*, 143–178.

van Beijsterveldt, C.E.M., and Boomsma, D.I. (2007). Genetics of parentally reported asthma, eczema and rhinitis in 5-yr-old twins. Eur. Respir. J. *29*, 516–521.

Bellanti, J.A., and Settipane, R.A. (2014). United airway disease. Allergy Asthma Proc. *35*, 355–356.

Bochkov, Y.A., Hanson, K.M., Keles, S., Brockman-Schneider, R.A., Jarjour, N.N., and Gern, J.E. (2010). Rhinovirus-induced modulation of gene expression in bronchial epithelial cells from subjects with asthma. Mucosal Immunol. *3*, 69–80.

Boita, M., Bucca, C., Riva, G., Heffler, E., and Rolla, G. (2016). Release of Type 2 Cytokines by Epithelial Cells of Nasal Polyps. J. Immunol. Res. *2016*, 2643297.

Borchers, M.T., Harris, N.L., Wesselkamper, S.C., Vitucci, M., and Cosman, D. (2006). NKG2D ligands are expressed on stressed human airway epithelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. *291*, L222-231.

Bousquet, J., Dahl, R., and Khaltaev, N. (2007). Global alliance against chronic respiratory diseases. Allergy *62*, 216–223.

Bouzigon, E., Forabosco, P., Koppelman, G.H., Cookson, W.O.C.M., Dizier, M.-H., Duffy, D.L., Evans, D.M., Ferreira, M.A.R., Kere, J., Laitinen, T., et al. (2010). Meta-analysis of 20 genome-

wide linkage studies evidenced new regions linked to asthma and atopy. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. EJHG *18*, 700–706.

Braman, S.S. (2006). The global burden of asthma. Chest 130, 4S–12S.

Bunyavanich, S., Melen, E., Wilk, J.B., Granada, M., Soto-Quiros, M.E., Avila, L., Lasky-Su, J., Hunninghake, G.M., Wickman, M., Pershagen, G., et al. (2011). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) is associated with allergic rhinitis in children with asthma. Clin. Mol. Allergy CMA *9*, 1.

Busse, W.W., and Lemanske, R.F. (2001). Asthma. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 350–362.

Canadian Lung Association (1994). Lung Facts.

Cardon, L.R., and Bell, J.I. (2001). Association study designs for complex diseases. Nat. Rev. Genet. *2*, 91–99.

Chen, Y., Johansen, H., Thillaiampalam, S., and Sambel Christie (2005). Asthma. Stat. Can. Cat. *16*, 43.

Cheung, P.F.Y., Wong, C.K., Ip, W.K., and Lam, C.W.K. (2006). IL-25 regulates the expression of adhesion molecules on eosinophils: mechanism of eosinophilia in allergic inflammation. Allergy *61*, 878–885.

Cockcroft, D.W., Murdock, K.Y., and Mink, J.T. (1983). Determination of histamine PC20. Comparison of linear and logarithmic interpolation. Chest *84*, 505–506.

Contoli, M., Caramori, G., Mallia, P., Johnston, S., and Papi, A. (2005). Mechanisms of respiratory virus-induced asthma exacerbations. Clin. Exp. Allergy J. Br. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *35*, 137–145.

Contoli, M., Message, S.D., Laza-Stanca, V., Edwards, M.R., Wark, P.A.B., Bartlett, N.W., Kebadze, T., Mallia, P., Stanciu, L.A., Parker, H.L., et al. (2006). Role of deficient type III interferon-lambda production in asthma exacerbations. Nat. Med. *12*, 1023–1026.

Cook, E.B., Stahl, J.L., Schwantes, E.A., Fox, K.E., and Mathur, S.K. (2012). IL-3 and TNFα increase Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Receptor (TSLPR) expression on eosinophils and enhance TSLP-stimulated degranulation. Clin. Mol. Allergy CMA *10*, 8.

Davis, B.E., Illamperuma, C., Gauvreau, G.M., Watson, R.M., O'Byrne, P.M., Deschesnes, F., Boulet, L.P., and Cockcroft, D.W. (2009). Single-dose desloratadine and montelukast and allergen-induced late airway responses. Eur. Respir. J. *33*, 1302–1308.

Dong, H., Hu, Y., Liu, L., Zou, M., Huang, C., Luo, L., Yu, C., Wan, X., Zhao, H., Chen, J., et al. (2016). Distinct roles of short and long thymic stromal lymphopoietin isoforms in house dust mite-induced asthmatic airway epithelial barrier disruption. Sci. Rep. *6*, 39559.

Duffy, D.L., Martin, N.G., Battistutta, D., Hopper, J.L., and Mathews, J.D. (1990). Genetics of asthma and hay fever in Australian twins. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. *142*, 1351–1358.

Edfors-Lubs, M.L. (1971). Allergy in 7000 twin pairs. Acta Allergol. 26, 249–285.

Eisenbarth, S.C., Cassel, S., and Bottomly, K. (2004). Understanding asthma pathogenesis: linking innate and adaptive immunity. Curr. Opin. Pediatr. *16*, 659–666.

Esnault, S., Rosenthal, L.A., Wang, D.-S., and Malter, J.S. (2008). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) as a bridge between infection and atopy. Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. *1*, 325–330.

Fagnani, C., Annesi-Maesano, I., Brescianini, S., D'Ippolito, C., Medda, E., Nisticò, L., Patriarca, V., Rotondi, D., Toccaceli, V., and Stazi, M.A. (2008). Heritability and shared genetic effects of asthma and hay fever: an Italian study of young twins. Twin Res. Hum. Genet. Off. J. Int. Soc. Twin Stud. *11*, 121–131.

Freishtat, R.J., Watson, A.M., Benton, A.S., Iqbal, S.F., Pillai, D.K., Rose, M.C., and Hoffman, E.P. (2011). Asthmatic airway epithelium is intrinsically inflammatory and mitotically dyssynchronous. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *44*, 863–869.

Frey, E.A., Miller, D.S., Jahr, T.G., Sundan, A., Bazil, V., Espevik, T., Finlay, B.B., and Wright, S.D. (1992). Soluble CD14 participates in the response of cells to lipopolysaccharide. J. Exp. Med. *176*, 1665–1671.

Gao, P.-S., Rafaels, N.M., Mu, D., Hand, T., Murray, T., Boguniewicz, M., Hata, T., Schneider, L., Hanifin, J.M., Gallo, R.L., et al. (2010). Genetic variants in thymic stromal lymphopoietin are associated with atopic dermatitis and eczema herpeticum. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *125*, 1403–1407.e4.

Garner, R., and Kohen, D. (2008). Changes in the prevalence of asthma among Canadian children. Health Rep. *19*, 45–50.

Gauvreau, G.M., and Evans, M.Y. (2007). Allergen inhalation challenge: a human model of asthma exacerbation. Contrib. Microbiol. *14*, 21–32.

Gauvreau, G.M., O'Byrne, P.M., Moqbel, R., Velazquez, J., Watson, R.M., Howie, K.J., and Denburg, J.A. (1998). Enhanced expression of GM-CSF in differentiating eosinophils of atopic and atopic asthmatic subjects. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *19*, 55–62.

Gauvreau, G.M., O'Byrne, P.M., Boulet, L.-P., Wang, Y., Cockcroft, D., Bigler, J., FitzGerald, J.M., Boedigheimer, M., Davis, B.E., Dias, C., et al. (2014). Effects of an anti-TSLP antibody on allergen-induced asthmatic responses. N. Engl. J. Med. *370*, 2102–2110.

Gern, J.E. (2010). The ABCs of rhinoviruses, wheezing, and asthma. J. Virol. 84, 7418–7426.

Gilliet, M., Soumelis, V., Watanabe, N., Hanabuchi, S., Antonenko, S., de Waal-Malefyt, R., and Liu, Y.-J. (2003). Human dendritic cells activated by TSLP and CD40L induce proallergic cytotoxic T cells. J. Exp. Med. *197*, 1059–1063.

GINA (2017). Global Initiative for Asthma. Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention.

Gleich, G.J. (2000). Mechanisms of eosinophil-associated inflammation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *105*, 651–663.

Goksör, E., Loid, P., Alm, B., Åberg, N., and Wennergren, G. (2016). The allergic march comprises the coexistence of related patterns of allergic disease not just the progressive development of one disease. Acta Paediatr. Oslo Nor. 1992 *105*, 1472–1479.

Golebski, K., van Tongeren, J., van Egmond, D., de Groot, E.J., Fokkens, W.J., and van Drunen, C.M. (2016). Specific Induction of TSLP by the Viral RNA Analogue Poly(I:C) in Primary Epithelial Cells Derived from Nasal Polyps. PloS One *11*, e0152808.

Gounni, A.S., Gregory, B., Nutku, E., Aris, F., Latifa, K., Minshall, E., North, J., Tavernier, J., Levit, R., Nicolaides, N., et al. (2000). Interleukin-9 enhances interleukin-5 receptor expression, differentiation, and survival of human eosinophils. Blood *96*, 2163–2171.

Hackett, T.-L., Singhera, G.K., Shaheen, F., Hayden, P., Jackson, G.R., Hegele, R.G., Van Eeden, S., Bai, T.R., Dorscheid, D.R., and Knight, D.A. (2011). Intrinsic phenotypic differences of asthmatic epithelium and its inflammatory responses to respiratory syncytial virus and air pollution. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *45*, 1090–1100.

Håkansson, K., Bachert, C., Konge, L., Thomsen, S.F., Pedersen, A.E., Poulsen, S.S., Martin-Bertelsen, T., Winther, O., Backer, V., and von Buchwald, C. (2015). Airway Inflammation in Chronic Rhinosinusitis with Nasal Polyps and Asthma: The United Airways Concept Further Supported. PloS One *10*, e0127228.

Haldar, P., Brightling, C.E., Hargadon, B., Gupta, S., Monteiro, W., Sousa, A., Marshall, R.P., Bradding, P., Green, R.H., Wardlaw, A.J., et al. (2009). Mepolizumab and exacerbations of refractory eosinophilic asthma. N. Engl. J. Med. *360*, 973–984.

Hallstrand, T.S., Fischer, M.E., Wurfel, M.M., Afari, N., Buchwald, D., and Goldberg, J. (2005). Genetic pleiotropy between asthma and obesity in a community-based sample of twins. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *116*, 1235–1241.

Hamid, Q., Azzawi, M., Ying, S., Moqbel, R., Wardlaw, A.J., Corrigan, C.J., Bradley, B., Durham, S.R., Collins, J.V., and Jeffery, P.K. (1991). Expression of mRNA for interleukin-5 in mucosal bronchial biopsies from asthma. J. Clin. Invest. *87*, 1541–1546.

Harada, M., Hirota, T., Jodo, A.I., Doi, S., Kameda, M., Fujita, K., Miyatake, A., Enomoto, T., Noguchi, E., Yoshihara, S., et al. (2009). Functional analysis of the thymic stromal lymphopoietin variants in human bronchial epithelial cells. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *40*, 368–374.

Harada, M., Hirota, T., Jodo, A.I., Hitomi, Y., Sakashita, M., Tsunoda, T., Miyagawa, T., Doi, S., Kameda, M., Fujita, K., et al. (2011). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin gene promoter polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to bronchial asthma. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *44*, 787–793.

Hartl, D., Koller, B., Mehlhorn, A.T., Reinhardt, D., Nicolai, T., Schendel, D.J., Griese, M., and Krauss-Etschmann, S. (2007). Quantitative and functional impairment of pulmonary CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in pediatric asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *119*, 1258–1266.

Haselden, B.M., Kay, A.B., and Larché, M. (1999). Immunoglobulin E-independent major histocompatibility complex-restricted T cell peptide epitope-induced late asthmatic reactions. J. Exp. Med. *189*, 1885–1894.

Haselden, B.M., Larché, M., Meng, Q., Shirley, K., Dworski, R., Kaplan, A.P., Bates, C., Robinson, D.S., Ying, S., and Kay, A.B. (2001). Late asthmatic reactions provoked by intradermal injection of T-cell peptide epitopes are not associated with bronchial mucosal infiltration of eosinophils or T(H)2-type cells or with elevated concentrations of histamine or eicosanoids in bronchoalveolar fluid. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *108*, 394–401.

Hauber, H.-P., Bergeron, C., and Hamid, Q. (2004). IL-9 in allergic inflammation. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. *134*, 79–87.

He, J.-Q., Hallstrand, T.S., Knight, D., Chan-Yeung, M., Sandford, A., Tripp, B., Zamar, D., Bossé, Y., Kozyrskyj, A.L., James, A., et al. (2009). A thymic stromal lymphopoietin gene variant is associated with asthma and airway hyperresponsiveness. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *124*, 222–229.

Herbert, C., Do, K., Chiu, V., Garthwaite, L., Chen, Y., Young, P.M., Traini, D., and Kumar, R.K. (2017). Allergic environment enhances airway epithelial pro-inflammatory responses to rhinovirus infection. Clin. Sci. Lond. Engl. 1979 *131*, 499–509.

Hill, M.R., and Cookson, W.O. (1996). A new variant of the beta subunit of the high-affinity receptor for immunoglobulin E (Fc epsilon RI-beta E237G): associations with measures of atopy and bronchial hyper-responsiveness. Hum. Mol. Genet. *5*, 959–962.

Holgate, S.T. (2011). The sentinel role of the airway epithelium in asthma pathogenesis. Immunol. Rev. *242*, 205–219.

Holgate, S., Casale, T., Wenzel, S., Bousquet, J., Deniz, Y., and Reisner, C. (2005). The antiinflammatory effects of omalizumab confirm the central role of IgE in allergic inflammation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *115*, 459–465. Horvath, K.M., Brighton, L.E., Zhang, W., Carson, J.L., and Jaspers, I. (2011). Epithelial cells from smokers modify dendritic cell responses in the context of influenza infection. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *45*, 237–245.

Hui, C.C.K., Murphy, D.M., Neighbour, H., Al-Sayegh, M., O'Byrne, S., Thong, B., Denburg, J.A., and Larché, M. (2014). T cell-mediated induction of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in differentiated human primary bronchial epithelial cells. Clin. Exp. Allergy J. Br. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *44*, 953–964.

Hui, C.C.K., Yu, A., Heroux, D., Akhabir, L., Sandford, A.J., Neighbour, H., and Denburg, J.A. (2015). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) secretion from human nasal epithelium is a function of TSLP genotype. Mucosal Immunol. *8*, 993–999.

Humbert, M., Menz, G., Ying, S., Corrigan, C.J., Robinson, D.S., Durham, S.R., and Kay, A.B. (1999). The immunopathology of extrinsic (atopic) and intrinsic (non-atopic) asthma: more similarities than differences. Immunol. Today *20*, 528–533.

Hunninghake, G.M., Lasky-Su, J., Soto-Quirós, M.E., Avila, L., Liang, C., Lake, S.L., Hudson, T.J., Spesny, M., Fournier, E., Sylvia, J.S., et al. (2008). Sex-stratified linkage analysis identifies a female-specific locus for IgE to cockroach in Costa Ricans. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. *177*, 830–836.

Hunninghake, G.M., Soto-Quirós, M.E., Avila, L., Kim, H.P., Lasky-Su, J., Rafaels, N., Ruczinski, I., Beaty, T.H., Mathias, R.A., Barnes, K.C., et al. (2010). TSLP polymorphisms are associated with asthma in a sex-specific fashion. Allergy *65*, 1566–1575.

International HapMap Consortium (2005). A haplotype map of the human genome. Nature *437*, 1299–1320.

Isaksen, D.E., Baumann, H., Trobridge, P.A., Farr, A.G., Levin, S.D., and Ziegler, S.F. (1999). Requirement for stat5 in thymic stromal lymphopoietin-mediated signal transduction. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *163*, 5971–5977.

Isaksen, D.E., Baumann, H., Zhou, B., Nivollet, S., Farr, A.G., Levin, S.D., and Ziegler, S.F. (2002). Uncoupling of proliferation and Stat5 activation in thymic stromal lymphopoietin-mediated signal transduction. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *168*, 3288–3294.

Ito, T., Wang, Y.-H., Duramad, O., Hori, T., Delespesse, G.J., Watanabe, N., Qin, F.X.-F., Yao, Z., Cao, W., and Liu, Y.-J. (2005). TSLP-activated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. J. Exp. Med. *202*, 1213–1223.

James, A. (2005). Airway remodeling in asthma. Curr. Opin. Pulm. Med. 11, 1–6.

Jiang, X.-G., Yang, X.-D., Lv, Z., and Zhuang, P.-H. (2017). Elevated serum levels of TNF-α, IL-8, and ECP can be involved in the development and progression of bronchial asthma. J. Asthma Off. J. Assoc. Care Asthma 0.

Jung, J.-S., Park, B.L., Cheong, H.S., Bae, J.S., Kim, J.-H., Chang, H.S., Rhim, T., Park, J.-S., Jang, A.-S., Lee, Y.-M., et al. (2009). Association of IL-17RB gene polymorphism with asthma. Chest *135*, 1173–1180.

Kashyap, M., Rochman, Y., Spolski, R., Samsel, L., and Leonard, W.J. (2011). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is produced by dendritic cells. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *187*, 1207–1211.

Kato, A., Favoreto, S., Avila, P.C., and Schleimer, R.P. (2007). TLR3- and Th2 cytokine-dependent production of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in human airway epithelial cells. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *179*, 1080–1087.

Kay, A.B. (2001). Allergy and allergic diseases. First of two parts. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 30–37.

Kay, A.B. (2006). The role of T lymphocytes in asthma. Chem. Immunol. Allergy *91*, 59–75.

Kim, C.-K. (2013). Eosinophil-derived neurotoxin: a novel biomarker for diagnosis and monitoring of asthma. Korean J. Pediatr. *56*, 8–12.

Kim, M.R., Manoukian, R., Yeh, R., Silbiger, S.M., Danilenko, D.M., Scully, S., Sun, J., DeRose, M.L., Stolina, M., Chang, D., et al. (2002). Transgenic overexpression of human IL-17E results in eosinophilia, B-lymphocyte hyperplasia, and altered antibody production. Blood *100*, 2330–2340.

Kimura, S., Pawankar, R., Mori, S., Nonaka, M., Masuno, S., Yagi, T., and Okubo, K. (2011). Increased expression and role of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in nasal polyposis. Allergy Asthma Immunol. Res. *3*, 186–193.

Koeppen-Schomerus, G., Stevenson, J., and Plomin, R. (2001). Genes and environment in asthma: a study of 4 year old twins. Arch. Dis. Child. *85*, 398–400.

Kormann, M.S.D., Depner, M., Hartl, D., Klopp, N., Illig, T., Adamski, J., Vogelberg, C., Weiland, S.K., von Mutius, E., and Kabesch, M. (2008). Toll-like receptor heterodimer variants protect from childhood asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *122*, 86–92, 92-8.

Kouro, T., and Takatsu, K. (2009). IL-5- and eosinophil-mediated inflammation: from discovery to therapy. Int. Immunol. *21*, 1303–1309.

Kruglyak, L. (1999). Prospects for whole-genome linkage disequilibrium mapping of common disease genes. Nat. Genet. *22*, 139–144.

Kumar, R.K., Foster, P.S., and Rosenberg, H.F. (2014). Respiratory viral infection, epithelial cytokines, and innate lymphoid cells in asthma exacerbations. J. Leukoc. Biol. *96*, 391–396.

Larché, M., Robinson, D.S., and Kay, A.B. (2003). The role of T lymphocytes in the pathogenesis of asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *111*, 450–463; quiz 464.

Leckie, M.J., ten Brinke, A., Khan, J., Diamant, Z., O'Connor, B.J., Walls, C.M., Mathur, A.K., Cowley, H.C., Chung, K.F., Djukanovic, R., et al. (2000). Effects of an interleukin-5 blocking monoclonal antibody on eosinophils, airway hyper-responsiveness, and the late asthmatic response. Lancet Lond. Engl. *356*, 2144–2148.

Lee, H.-C., and Ziegler, S.F. (2007). Inducible expression of the proallergic cytokine thymic stromal lymphopoietin in airway epithelial cells is controlled by NFkappaB. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 914–919.

Lee, E.B., Kim, K.W., Hong, J.Y., Jee, H.M., Sohn, M.H., and Kim, K.-E. (2010). Increased serum thymic stromal lymphopoietin in children with atopic dermatitis. Pediatr. Allergy Immunol. Off. Publ. Eur. Soc. Pediatr. Allergy Immunol. *21*, e457-460.

Lee, H.-C., Headley, M.B., Loo, Y.-M., Berlin, A., Gale, M., Debley, J.S., Lukacs, N.W., and Ziegler, S.F. (2012). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is induced by respiratory syncytial virus-infected airway epithelial cells and promotes a type 2 response to infection. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *130*, 1187–1196.e5.

Levin, S.D., Koelling, R.M., Friend, S.L., Isaksen, D.E., Ziegler, S.F., Perlmutter, R.M., and Farr, A.G. (1999). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin: a cytokine that promotes the development of IgM+ B cells in vitro and signals via a novel mechanism. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *162*, 677–683.

Li, M., Messaddeq, N., Teletin, M., Pasquali, J.-L., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (2005). Retinoid X receptor ablation in adult mouse keratinocytes generates an atopic dermatitis triggered by thymic stromal lymphopoietin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *102*, 14795–14800.

Li, M., Hener, P., Zhang, Z., Kato, S., Metzger, D., and Chambon, P. (2006). Topical vitamin D3 and low-calcemic analogs induce thymic stromal lymphopoietin in mouse keratinocytes and trigger an atopic dermatitis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *103*, 11736–11741.

Li, X., Hastie, A.T., Hawkins, G.A., Moore, W.C., Ampleford, E.J., Milosevic, J., Li, H., Busse, W.W., Erzurum, S.C., Kaminski, N., et al. (2015). eQTL of bronchial epithelial cells and bronchial alveolar lavage deciphers GWAS-identified asthma genes. Allergy *70*, 1309–1318.

Liao, B., Cao, P.-P., Zeng, M., Zhen, Z., Wang, H., Zhang, Y.-N., Hu, C.-Y., Ma, J., Li, Z.-Y., Song, J., et al. (2015). Interaction of thymic stromal lymphopoietin, IL-33, and their receptors in epithelial cells in eosinophilic chronic rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps. Allergy *70*, 1169–1180.

Liu, Y.-J. (2006). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin: master switch for allergic inflammation. J. Exp. Med. *203*, 269–273.

Liu, Y.-J. (2007). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin and OX40 ligand pathway in the initiation of dendritic cell-mediated allergic inflammation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *120*, 238-244-246.

Liu, T., Li, T.-L., Zhao, F., Xie, C., Liu, A.-M., Chen, X., Song, C., Cheng, L., and Yang, P.-C. (2011). Role of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in the pathogenesis of nasal polyposis. Am. J. Med. Sci. *341*, 40–47.

Lopez-Souza, N., Avila, P.C., and Widdicombe, J.H. (2003). Polarized cultures of human airway epithelium from nasal scrapings and bronchial brushings. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim. *39*, 266–269.

Luo, Y., Zhou, B., Zhao, M., Tang, J., and Lu, Q. (2014). Promoter demethylation contributes to TSLP overexpression in skin lesions of patients with atopic dermatitis. Clin. Exp. Dermatol. *39*, 48–53.

Maier, L.M., Howson, J.M.M., Walker, N., Spickett, G.P., Jones, R.W., Ring, S.M., McArdle, W.L., Lowe, C.E., Bailey, R., Payne, F., et al. (2006). Association of IL13 with total IgE: evidence against an inverse association of atopy and diabetes. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *117*, 1306–1313.

Manolio, T.A. (2010). Genomewide association studies and assessment of the risk of disease. N. Engl. J. Med. *363*, 166–176.

Masoli, M., Fabian, D., Holt, S., Beasley, R., and Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Program (2004). The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. Allergy *59*, 469–478.

Mathias, R.A. (2014). Introduction to genetics and genomics in asthma: genetics of asthma. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. *795*, 125–155.

Millar, W.J., and Hill, G.B. (1998). Childhood asthma. Health Rep. 10, 9–21 (ENG); 9–22 (FRE).

Miller, M.R., Hankinson, J., Brusasco, V., Burgos, F., Casaburi, R., Coates, A., Crapo, R., Enright, P., van der Grinten, C.P.M., Gustafsson, P., et al. (2005). Standardisation of spirometry. Eur. Respir. J. *26*, 319–338.

Miyata, M., Hatsushika, K., Ando, T., Shimokawa, N., Ohnuma, Y., Katoh, R., Suto, H., Ogawa, H., Masuyama, K., and Nakao, A. (2008). Mast cell regulation of epithelial TSLP expression plays an important role in the development of allergic rhinitis. Eur. J. Immunol. *38*, 1487–1492.

Mjösberg, J.M., Trifari, S., Crellin, N.K., Peters, C.P., van Drunen, C.M., Piet, B., Fokkens, W.J., Cupedo, T., and Spits, H. (2011). Human IL-25- and IL-33-responsive type 2 innate lymphoid cells are defined by expression of CRTH2 and CD161. Nat. Immunol. *12*, 1055–1062.

Moffatt, M.F., Kabesch, M., Liang, L., Dixon, A.L., Strachan, D., Heath, S., Depner, M., von Berg, A., Bufe, A., Rietschel, E., et al. (2007). Genetic variants regulating ORMDL3 expression contribute to the risk of childhood asthma. Nature *448*, 470–473.

Moffatt, M.F., Gut, I.G., Demenais, F., Strachan, D.P., Bouzigon, E., Heath, S., von Mutius, E., Farrall, M., Lathrop, M., Cookson, W.O.C.M., et al. (2010). A large-scale, consortium-based genomewide association study of asthma. N. Engl. J. Med. *363*, 1211–1221.

Moro, K., Yamada, T., Tanabe, M., Takeuchi, T., Ikawa, T., Kawamoto, H., Furusawa, J.-I., Ohtani, M., Fujii, H., and Koyasu, S. (2010). Innate production of T(H)2 cytokines by adipose tissue-associated c-Kit(+)Sca-1(+) lymphoid cells. Nature *463*, 540–544.

Müller, L., Brighton, L.E., and Jaspers, I. (2013a). Ozone exposed epithelial cells modify cocultured natural killer cells. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. *304*, L332-341.

Müller, L., Brighton, L.E., Carson, J.L., Fischer, W.A., and Jaspers, I. (2013b). Culturing of Human Nasal Epithelial Cells at the Air Liquid Interface. J. Vis. Exp.

Murphy, D.M., and O'Byrne, P.M. (2010). Recent advances in the pathophysiology of asthma. Chest *137*, 1417–1426.

Nagata, Y., Kamijuku, H., Taniguchi, M., Ziegler, S., and Seino, K. (2007). Differential role of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in the induction of airway hyperreactivity and Th2 immune response in antigen-induced asthma with respect to natural killer T cell function. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. *144*, 305–314.

Nair, P., Pizzichini, M.M.M., Kjarsgaard, M., Inman, M.D., Efthimiadis, A., Pizzichini, E., Hargreave, F.E., and O'Byrne, P.M. (2009). Mepolizumab for prednisone-dependent asthma with sputum eosinophilia. N. Engl. J. Med. *360*, 985–993.

Nakajima, H., and Takatsu, K. (2007). Role of cytokines in allergic airway inflammation. Int. Arch. Allergy Immunol. *142*, 265–273.

Nguyen, K.D., Vanichsarn, C., and Nadeau, K.C. (2010). TSLP directly impairs pulmonary Treg function: association with aberrant tolerogenic immunity in asthmatic airway. Allergy Asthma Clin. Immunol. Off. J. Can. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *6*, 4.

Novak, N., and Bieber, T. (2003). Allergic and nonallergic forms of atopic diseases. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *112*, 252–262.

Nystad, W., Røysamb, E., Magnus, P., Tambs, K., and Harris, J.R. (2005). A comparison of genetic and environmental variance structures for asthma, hay fever and eczema with symptoms of the same diseases: a study of Norwegian twins. Int. J. Epidemiol. *34*, 1302–1309.

Ober, C., and Hoffjan, S. (2006). Asthma genetics 2006: the long and winding road to gene discovery. Genes Immun. 7, 95–100.

O'Byrne, P.M., and Inman, M.D. (2003). Airway hyperresponsiveness. Chest 123, 4115–6S.

Okayama, Y., Okumura, S., Sagara, H., Yuki, K., Sasaki, T., Watanabe, N., Fueki, M., Sugiyama, K., Takeda, K., Fukuda, T., et al. (2009). FcepsilonRI-mediated thymic stromal lymphopoietin production by interleukin-4-primed human mast cells. Eur. Respir. J. *34*, 425–435.

Olivera, D.S., Boggs, S.E., Beenhouwer, C., Aden, J., and Knall, C. (2007). Cellular mechanisms of mainstream cigarette smoke-induced lung epithelial tight junction permeability changes in vitro. Inhal. Toxicol. *19*, 13–22.

Omori, M., and Ziegler, S. (2007). Induction of IL-4 expression in CD4(+) T cells by thymic stromal lymphopoietin. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *178*, 1396–1404.

Pan, G., French, D., Mao, W., Maruoka, M., Risser, P., Lee, J., Foster, J., Aggarwal, S., Nicholes, K., Guillet, S., et al. (2001). Forced expression of murine IL-17E induces growth retardation, jaundice, a Th2-biased response, and multiorgan inflammation in mice. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *167*, 6559–6567.

Papadopoulou, A., Tsoukala, D., and Tsoumakas, K. (2014). Rhinitis and asthma in children: comorbitity or united airway disease? Curr. Pediatr. Rev. *10*, 275–281.

Pascual, R.M., and Peters, S.P. (2005). Airway remodeling contributes to the progressive loss of lung function in asthma: an overview. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *116*, 477–486; quiz 487.

Pearce, N., Pekkanen, J., and Beasley, R. (1999). How much asthma is really attributable to atopy? Thorax *54*, 268–272.

Platts-Mills, T., Leung, D.Y.M., and Schatz, M. (2007). The role of allergens in asthma. Am. Fam. Physician *76*, 675–680.

Préfontaine, D., Nadigel, J., Chouiali, F., Audusseau, S., Semlali, A., Chakir, J., Martin, J.G., and Hamid, Q. (2010). Increased IL-33 expression by epithelial cells in bronchial asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *125*, 752–754.

Proud, D., and Leigh, R. (2011). Epithelial cells and airway diseases. Immunol. Rev. 242, 186–204.

Queiroz, G.A., Costa, R.S., Alcantara-Neves, N.M., Nunes de Oliveira Costa, G., Barreto, M.L., Carneiro, V.L., and Figueiredo, C.A. (2017). IL33 and IL1RL1 variants are associated with asthma and atopy in a Brazilian population. Int. J. Immunogenet. *44*, 51–61.

Rabe, K.F., Calhoun, W.J., Smith, N., and Jimenez, P. (2011). Can anti-IgE therapy prevent airway remodeling in allergic asthma? Allergy *66*, 1142–1151.

Reche, P.A., Soumelis, V., Gorman, D.M., Clifford, T., Liu Mr, null, Travis, M., Zurawski, S.M., Johnston, J., Liu, Y.J., Spits, H., et al. (2001). Human thymic stromal lymphopoietin preferentially stimulates myeloid cells. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *167*, 336–343.

Redhu, N.S., Saleh, A., Halayko, A.J., Ali, A.S., and Gounni, A.S. (2011). Essential role of NF-κB and AP-1 transcription factors in TNF-α-induced TSLP expression in human airway smooth muscle cells. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. *300*, L479-485.

Rezaee, F., Meednu, N., Emo, J.A., Saatian, B., Chapman, T.J., Naydenov, N.G., De Benedetto, A., Beck, L.A., Ivanov, A.I., and Georas, S.N. (2011). Polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid induces protein kinase D-dependent disassembly of apical junctions and barrier dysfunction in airway epithelial cells. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *128*, 1216–1224.e11.

Risch, N., and Merikangas, K. (1996). The future of genetic studies of complex human diseases. Science *273*, 1516–1517.

Roan, F., Bell, B.D., Stoklasek, T.A., Kitajima, M., Han, H., and Ziegler, S.F. (2012). The multiple facets of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) during allergic inflammation and beyond. J. Leukoc. Biol. *91*, 877–886.

Robinson, D.S. (2010). The role of the T cell in asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *126*, 1081-1091-1093.

Rochman, Y., and Leonard, W.J. (2008a). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin: a new cytokine in asthma. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. *8*, 249–254.

Rochman, Y., and Leonard, W.J. (2008b). The role of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in CD8+ T cell homeostasis. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *181*, 7699–7705.

Rochman, I., Watanabe, N., Arima, K., Liu, Y.-J., and Leonard, W.J. (2007). Cutting edge: direct action of thymic stromal lymphopoietin on activated human CD4+ T cells. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *178*, 6720–6724.

Rochman, Y., Kashyap, M., Robinson, G.W., Sakamoto, K., Gomez-Rodriguez, J., Wagner, K.-U., and Leonard, W.J. (2010). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin-mediated STAT5 phosphorylation via kinases JAK1 and JAK2 reveals a key difference from IL-7-induced signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 19455–19460.

Rothenberg, M.E., Spergel, J.M., Sherrill, J.D., Annaiah, K., Martin, L.J., Cianferoni, A., Gober, L., Kim, C., Glessner, J., Frackelton, E., et al. (2010). Common variants at 5q22 associate with pediatric eosinophilic esophagitis. Nat. Genet. *42*, 289–291.

Runswick, S., Mitchell, T., Davies, P., Robinson, C., and Garrod, D.R. (2007). Pollen proteolytic enzymes degrade tight junctions. Respirol. Carlton Vic *12*, 834–842.

Saenz, S.A., Taylor, B.C., and Artis, D. (2008). Welcome to the neighborhood: epithelial cellderived cytokines license innate and adaptive immune responses at mucosal sites. Immunol. Rev. *226*, 172–190. Saenz, S.A., Siracusa, M.C., Perrigoue, J.G., Spencer, S.P., Urban, J.F., Tocker, J.E., Budelsky, A.L., Kleinschek, M.A., Kastelein, R.A., Kambayashi, T., et al. (2010a). IL25 elicits a multipotent progenitor cell population that promotes T(H)2 cytokine responses. Nature *464*, 1362–1366.

Saenz, S.A., Noti, M., and Artis, D. (2010b). Innate immune cell populations function as initiators and effectors in Th2 cytokine responses. Trends Immunol. *31*, 407–413.

Sakula, A. (1988). A history of asthma. The FitzPatrick lecture 1987. J. R. Coll. Physicians Lond. 22, 36–44.

Salter, B.M., Oliveria, J.P., Nusca, G., Smith, S.G., Watson, R.M., Comeau, M., Sehmi, R., and Gauvreau, G.M. (2015). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin activation of basophils in patients with allergic asthma is IL-3 dependent. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *136*, 1636–1644.

Sanders, C.J., Doherty, P.C., and Thomas, P.G. (2011). Respiratory epithelial cells in innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Cell Tissue Res. *343*, 13–21.

Sandford, A., Weir, T., and Paré, P. (1996). The genetics of asthma. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. *153*, 1749–1765.

Schmitz, J., Owyang, A., Oldham, E., Song, Y., Murphy, E., McClanahan, T.K., Zurawski, G., Moshrefi, M., Qin, J., Li, X., et al. (2005). IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. Immunity 23, 479–490.

Schork, N.J., Murray, S.S., Frazer, K.A., and Topol, E.J. (2009). Common vs. rare allele hypotheses for complex diseases. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. *19*, 212–219.

Schröder, M., and Bowie, A.G. (2005). TLR3 in antiviral immunity: key player or bystander? Trends Immunol. *26*, 462–468.

Semlali, A., Jacques, E., Koussih, L., Gounni, A.S., and Chakir, J. (2010). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin-induced human asthmatic airway epithelial cell proliferation through an IL-13-dependent pathway. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *125*, 844–850.

Seshasayee, D., Lee, W.P., Zhou, M., Shu, J., Suto, E., Zhang, J., Diehl, L., Austin, C.D., Meng, Y.G., Tan, M., et al. (2007). In vivo blockade of OX40 ligand inhibits thymic stromal lymphopoietin driven atopic inflammation. J. Clin. Invest. *117*, 3868–3878.

Shan, L., Redhu, N.S., Saleh, A., Halayko, A.J., Chakir, J., and Gounni, A.S. (2010). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin receptor-mediated IL-6 and CC/CXC chemokines expression in human airway smooth muscle cells: role of MAPKs (ERK1/2, p38, and JNK) and STAT3 pathways. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *184*, 7134–7143.

Sheikh, A., Smeeth, L., and Hubbard, R. (2003). There is no evidence of an inverse relationship between TH2-mediated atopy and TH1-mediated autoimmune disorders: Lack of support for the hygiene hypothesis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *111*, 131–135.

Shikotra, A., Choy, D.F., Ohri, C.M., Doran, E., Butler, C., Hargadon, B., Shelley, M., Abbas, A.R., Austin, C.D., Jackman, J., et al. (2012). Increased expression of immunoreactive thymic stromal lymphopoietin in patients with severe asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *129*, 104-111-9.

Shimbara, A., Christodoulopoulos, P., Soussi-Gounni, A., Olivenstein, R., Nakamura, Y., Levitt, R.C., Nicolaides, N.C., Holroyd, K.J., Tsicopoulos, A., Lafitte, J.J., et al. (2000). IL-9 and its receptor in allergic and nonallergic lung disease: increased expression in asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *105*, 108–115.

Simpson, C.R., Anderson, W.J.A., Helms, P.J., Taylor, M.W., Watson, L., Prescott, G.J., Godden, D.J., and Barker, R.N. (2002). Coincidence of immune-mediated diseases driven by Th1 and Th2 subsets suggests a common aetiology. A population-based study using computerized general practice data. Clin. Exp. Allergy J. Br. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *32*, 37–42.

Siracusa, M.C., Saenz, S.A., Hill, D.A., Kim, B.S., Headley, M.B., Doering, T.A., Wherry, E.J., Jessup, H.K., Siegel, L.A., Kambayashi, T., et al. (2011). TSLP promotes interleukin-3-independent basophil haematopoiesis and type 2 inflammation. Nature *477*, 229–233.

Sitkauskiene, B., Rådinger, M., Bossios, A., Johansson, A.-K., Sakalauskas, R., and Lötvall, J. (2005). Airway allergen exposure stimulates bone marrow eosinophilia partly via IL-9. Respir. Res. *6*, 33.

Skadhauge, L.R., Christensen, K., Kyvik, K.O., and Sigsgaard, T. (1999). Genetic and environmental influence on asthma: a population-based study of 11,688 Danish twin pairs. Eur. Respir. J. *13*, 8–14.

Sokol, C.L., Barton, G.M., Farr, A.G., and Medzhitov, R. (2008). A mechanism for the initiation of allergen-induced T helper type 2 responses. Nat. Immunol. *9*, 310–318.

Soumelis, V., Reche, P.A., Kanzler, H., Yuan, W., Edward, G., Homey, B., Gilliet, M., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Lauerma, A., et al. (2002). Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. Nat. Immunol. *3*, 673–680.

Sridhar, S., Schembri, F., Zeskind, J., Shah, V., Gustafson, A.M., Steiling, K., Liu, G., Dumas, Y.-M., Zhang, X., Brody, J.S., et al. (2008). Smoking-induced gene expression changes in the bronchial airway are reflected in nasal and buccal epithelium. BMC Genomics *9*, 259.

Statistics Canada (2014). Asthma, by sex, provinces and territories.

Steinke, J.W., Rich, S.S., and Borish, L. (2008). 5. Genetics of allergic disease. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *121*, S384–387; quiz S416.

Swamy, M., Jamora, C., Havran, W., and Hayday, A. (2010). Epithelial decision makers: in search of the "epimmunome." Nat. Immunol. *11*, 656–665.

Szilvassy, S.J., and Hoffman, R. (1995). Enriched hematopoietic stem cells: basic biology and clinical utility. Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. J. Am. Soc. Blood Marrow Transplant. 1, 3–17.

Tabatabaian, F., Ledford, D.K., and Casale, T.B. (2017). Biologic and New Therapies in Asthma. Immunol. Allergy Clin. North Am. *37*, 329–343.

Takai, T. (2012). TSLP expression: cellular sources, triggers, and regulatory mechanisms. Allergol. Int. Off. J. Jpn. Soc. Allergol. *61*, 3–17.

Tan, H.-T.T., Sugita, K., and Akdis, C.A. (2016). Novel Biologicals for the Treatment of Allergic Diseases and Asthma. Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep. *16*, 70.

Thomsen, S.F., van der Sluis, S., Kyvik, K.O., Skytthe, A., and Backer, V. (2010). Estimates of asthma heritability in a large twin sample. Clin. Exp. Allergy J. Br. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *40*, 1054–1061.

Torgerson, D.G., Ampleford, E.J., Chiu, G.Y., Gauderman, W.J., Gignoux, C.R., Graves, P.E., Himes, B.E., Levin, A.M., Mathias, R.A., Hancock, D.B., et al. (2011). Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies of asthma in ethnically diverse North American populations. Nat. Genet. *43*, 887–892.

Townley, R.G., and Horiba, M. (2003). Airway hyperresponsiveness: a story of mice and men and cytokines. Clin. Rev. Allergy Immunol. *24*, 85–110.

Tu, H.-Y., Chen, X., and Li, J. (2007). [Signal transduction in respiratory syncytial virus infectioninduced thymic stromal lymphopoietin expression in human epithelial cells]. Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao *27*, 1581–1583.

Turi, J.L., Jaspers, I., Dailey, L.A., Madden, M.C., Brighton, L.E., Carter, J.D., Nozik-Grayck, E., Piantadosi, C.A., and Ghio, A.J. (2002). Oxidative stress activates anion exchange protein 2 and AP-1 in airway epithelial cells. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. *283*, L791-798.

Uller, L., Leino, M., Bedke, N., Sammut, D., Green, B., Lau, L., Howarth, P.H., Holgate, S.T., and Davies, D.E. (2010). Double-stranded RNA induces disproportionate expression of thymic stromal lymphopoietin versus interferon-beta in bronchial epithelial cells from donors with asthma. Thorax *65*, 626–632.

Urbano, F.L. (2008). Review of the NAEPP 2007 Expert Panel Report (EPR-3) on Asthma Diagnosis and Treatment Guidelines. J. Manag. Care Pharm. JMCP *14*, 41–49.

Vannella, K.M., Ramalingam, T.R., Borthwick, L.A., Barron, L., Hart, K.M., Thompson, R.W., Kindrachuk, K.N., Cheever, A.W., White, S., Budelsky, A.L., et al. (2016). Combinatorial targeting

of TSLP, IL-25, and IL-33 in type 2 cytokine-driven inflammation and fibrosis. Sci. Transl. Med. *8*, 337ra65.

Vareille, M., Kieninger, E., Edwards, M.R., and Regamey, N. (2011). The airway epithelium: soldier in the fight against respiratory viruses. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 24, 210–229.

Vignola, A.M., Chanez, P., Siena, L., Chiappara, G., Bonsignore, G., and Bousquet, J. (1998). Airways remodelling in asthma. Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther. *11*, 359–367.

Vissinga, C., Martin, T., Jessup, H.K., and Comeau, M.R. (2013). 269. Cytokine 63, 307.

Wang, I.-J., Chen, S.-L., Lu, T.-P., Chuang, E.Y., and Chen, P.-C. (2013). Prenatal smoke exposure, DNA methylation, and childhood atopic dermatitis. Clin. Exp. Allergy J. Br. Soc. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *43*, 535–543.

Wang, Y., Le, Y., Zhao, W., Lin, Y., Wu, Y., Yu, C., Xiong, J., Zou, F., Dong, H., Cai, S., et al. (2017). Short TSLP attenuates toluene diisocyanate (TDI)-induced airway inflammation and inhibits HMGB1-RAGE and long TSLP expression. Toxicol. Sci. Off. J. Soc. Toxicol.

Wang, Y.-H., Ito, T., Wang, Y.-H., Homey, B., Watanabe, N., Martin, R., Barnes, C.J., McIntyre, B.W., Gilliet, M., Kumar, R., et al. (2006). Maintenance and polarization of human TH2 central memory T cells by thymic stromal lymphopoietin-activated dendritic cells. Immunity *24*, 827–838.

Wark, P.A.B., Johnston, S.L., Bucchieri, F., Powell, R., Puddicombe, S., Laza-Stanca, V., Holgate, S.T., and Davies, D.E. (2005). Asthmatic bronchial epithelial cells have a deficient innate immune response to infection with rhinovirus. J. Exp. Med. *201*, 937–947.

Watanabe, N., Wang, Y.-H., Lee, H.K., Ito, T., Wang, Y.-H., Cao, W., and Liu, Y.-J. (2005). Hassall's corpuscles instruct dendritic cells to induce CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in human thymus. Nature *436*, 1181–1185.

Weidinger, S., Klopp, N., Wagenpfeil, S., Rümmler, L., Schedel, M., Kabesch, M., Schäfer, T., Darsow, U., Jakob, T., Behrendt, H., et al. (2004). Association of a STAT 6 haplotype with elevated serum IgE levels in a population based cohort of white adults. J. Med. Genet. *41*, 658–663.

Wieczfinska, J., and Pawliczak, R. (2017). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin and apocynin alter the expression of airway remodeling factors in human rhinovirus-infected cells. Immunobiology *222*, 892–899.

Wiener, A.S., Zieve, I., and Fries, J.H. (1936). THE INHERITANCE OF ALLERGIC DISEASE. Ann. Eugen. 7, 141–162.

Willemsen, G., van Beijsterveldt, T.C.E.M., van Baal, C.G.C.M., Postma, D., and Boomsma, D.I. (2008). Heritability of self-reported asthma and allergy: a study in adult Dutch twins, siblings and parents. Twin Res. Hum. Genet. Off. J. Int. Soc. Twin Stud. *11*, 132–142.

Wong, C.K., Hu, S., Cheung, P.F.Y., and Lam, C.W.K. (2010). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin induces chemotactic and prosurvival effects in eosinophils: implications in allergic inflammation. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *43*, 305–315.

Xiao, C., Puddicombe, S.M., Field, S., Haywood, J., Broughton-Head, V., Puxeddu, I., Haitchi, H.M., Vernon-Wilson, E., Sammut, D., Bedke, N., et al. (2011). Defective epithelial barrier function in asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *128*, 549-556-12.

Yan, Q., Brehm, J., Pino-Yanes, M., Forno, E., Lin, J., Oh, S.S., Acosta-Perez, E., Laurie, C.C., Cloutier, M.M., Raby, B.A., et al. (2017). A meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies of asthma in Puerto Ricans. Eur. Respir. J. *49*.

Yi, L., Cheng, D., Zhang, K., Huo, X., Mo, Y., Shi, H., Di, H., Zou, Y., Zhang, H., Zhao, J., et al. (2017). Intelectin contributes to allergen-induced IL-25, IL-33, and TSLP expression and type 2 response in asthma and atopic dermatitis. Mucosal Immunol.

Ying, S., Humbert, M., Barkans, J., Corrigan, C.J., Pfister, R., Menz, G., Larché, M., Robinson, D.S., Durham, S.R., and Kay, A.B. (1997). Expression of IL-4 and IL-5 mRNA and protein product by CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, eosinophils, and mast cells in bronchial biopsies obtained from atopic and nonatopic (intrinsic) asthmatics. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *158*, 3539–3544.

Ying, S., O'Connor, B., Ratoff, J., Meng, Q., Mallett, K., Cousins, D., Robinson, D., Zhang, G., Zhao, J., Lee, T.H., et al. (2005). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin expression is increased in asthmatic airways and correlates with expression of Th2-attracting chemokines and disease severity. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *174*, 8183–8190.

Ying, S., O'Connor, B., Ratoff, J., Meng, Q., Fang, C., Cousins, D., Zhang, G., Gu, S., Gao, Z., Shamji, B., et al. (2008). Expression and cellular provenance of thymic stromal lymphopoietin and chemokines in patients with severe asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950 *181*, 2790–2798.

Zhang, K., Shan, L., Rahman, M.S., Unruh, H., Halayko, A.J., and Gounni, A.S. (2007). Constitutive and inducible thymic stromal lymphopoietin expression in human airway smooth muscle cells: role in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. *293*, L375-382.

Zhou, B., Comeau, M.R., De Smedt, T., Liggitt, H.D., Dahl, M.E., Lewis, D.B., Gyarmati, D., Aye, T., Campbell, D.J., and Ziegler, S.F. (2005). Thymic stromal lymphopoietin as a key initiator of allergic airway inflammation in mice. Nat. Immunol. *6*, 1047–1053.

Ziegler, S.F., Roan, F., Bell, B.D., Stoklasek, T.A., Kitajima, M., and Han, H. (2013). The biology of thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP). Adv. Pharmacol. San Diego Calif *66*, 129–155.

Zimmermann, G.S., Neurohr, C., Villena-Hermoza, H., Hatz, R., and Behr, J. (2009). Antiinflammatory effects of antibacterials on human Bronchial epithelial cells. Respir. Res. *10*, 89.